# Neurotypical + Neurodivergent Relationship Handbook



By Dr. Lili Castille

Published by Montego Books, LLC

#### © Copyright Lili Castille. 2025 - All rights reserved.

The content contained within this book may not be reproduced, duplicated or transmitted without direct written permission from the author or the publisher.

Under no circumstances will any blame or legal responsibility be held against the publisher, or author, for any damages, reparation, or monetary loss due to the information contained within this book. Either directly or indirectly. You are responsible for your own choices, actions, and results.

#### **Legal Notice:**

This book is copyright protected. This book is only for personal use. You cannot amend, distribute, sell, use, quote or paraphrase any part, or the content within this book, without the consent of the author or publisher.

#### **Disclaimer Notice:**

Please note the information contained within this document is for educational and entertainment purposes only. All effort has been executed to present accurate, up to date, and reliable, complete information. No warranties of any kind are declared or implied. Readers acknowledge that the author is not engaging in the rendering of legal, financial, medical or professional advice. The content within this book has been derived from various sources. Please consult a licensed professional before attempting any techniques outlined in this book.

By reading this document, the reader agrees that under no circumstances is the author responsible for any losses, direct or indirect, which are incurred as a result of the use of the information contained within this document, including, but not limited to: errors, omissions, or inaccuracies.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	4
Chapter 1: Neurodiversity in Relationships	13
Chapter 2: Building Compassionate Curiosity	23
Chapter 3: Self-Care & Survival Tips for NT Partners	32
Chapter 4: Communication Across Neurotypes	46
Chapter 5: Emotional Fluency and Alexithymia	55
Chapter 6: Managing Sensory Differences	64
Chapter 7: Executive Function in Daily Life	73
Chapter 8: Navigating Social Life and Family	81
Chapter 9: Handling Conflict	89
Chapter 10: Crisis Management & Safety Planning	95
Chapter 11: Supporting Each Other's Mental Health	108
Chapter 12: Intimacy and Affection	115
Chapter 13: Wins and Resilience	122
Chapter 14: Parenting as a Neurodiverse Couple	129
Chapter 15: Long-Term Plans & Life Transitions	135
Chapter 16: Seeking Outside Help	141
Chapter 17 : Your Journey Together	149
Resources	151
References	157
Glossary	162



## Introduction

"Love does not mean sameness. Love means learning to cherish and support difference". ~ Dr. Devon Price

Relationships are as unique as the people who form them. When partners bring different ways of thinking, feeling, and experiencing the world into their relationship, especially when one partner is neurodivergent and the other is neurotypical, everyday moments can become both more challenging and more rewarding. Yet, most relationship advice assumes we all process information and emotions in similar ways. This book is here to change that. Whether you're just beginning your journey together or have years of shared history, you'll find tools, stories, and research designed to help you understand one another, navigate differences, and build a partnership that honors each of your strengths.

#### A Note on Language

In this book, you'll see a variety of terms: neurotypical or NT, neurodivergent or ND, AuDHD for folks with both ADHD and autism. We use both identity-first language ("autistic person") as well as person-first language ("people with autism") because preferences differ and keep changing in our community. We also use alternative terms for neurodivergent like neuro-special or neuro-different.

#### Case Study: Lisa and Mark

When Lisa and Mark first met, they were drawn to each other's uniqueness. Mark, a graphic designer, loved Lisa's creative problem-solving and her deep empathy. Lisa, a software engineer, admired Mark's passion for details and his refreshingly honest communication. But over time, differences emerged. Mark, who is autistic, found Lisa's hints and metaphors confusing. Lisa, who is neurotypical, sometimes felt hurt by Mark's bluntness or his need for alone time after work. Arguments could start over the smallest misunderstandings: a forgotten text, a missed social cue, or a clash over weekend plans. Both wondered: "Is love supposed to be this hard?"

They sought support but found that most relationship advice didn't fit. Lisa felt alone, and Mark sometimes felt broken. But together, they decided to learn about neurodiversity, about each other, and about how to build a relationship that honored both their needs. Over time, they discovered tools that helped them bridge their differences and celebrate their strengths. Their relationship didn't become perfect, but it became more authentic, resilient, and loving.

#### **Research Insights:**

Neurodiversity refers to the natural variation in human brains and minds. Conditions such as autism, ADHD, dyslexia, and others are not problems to be fixed, but different ways of experiencing, processing, and interacting with the world. According to recent studies neurodivergent people make up at least 15–20% of the population (e.g., Milton, 2020; Botha & Frost, 2020).

When it comes to relationships, research shows neurodivergent/neurotypical couples may face increased challenges around communication, emotional connection, and daily routines (Aston, 2009; Hendrickx, 2021). They are also more likely to experience misunderstandings that can erode trust or intimacy if not addressed compassionately. Yet, studies also highlight the remarkable resilience, creativity, and adaptability of neurodiverse couples who learn to embrace and work with their differences.

Crucially, most mainstream relationship advice is based on neurotypical norms and may not address the needs, strengths, or challenges of neurodivergent people. There is a growing call for affirming, practical resources that support both partners in a neurodiverse relationship, helping them move from frustration to understanding, and from mere survival to thriving together.

Table: Neurotypical (NT) and Neurodivergent (ND) Strengths in Relationships

Area/Strengths	NT Partner Strengths	ND Partner Strengths
Communication	Nuanced social skills, reading subtext	Honesty, clarity, directness
Daily Routines	Flexibility, adapting to change	Reliability, love of routine
Problem-Solving	Big-picture thinking	Creative, outside-the-box solutions
Emotional Support	Empathy, emotional validation	Deep loyalty, unique perspective
Social Interactions	Navigating group dynamics	Authenticity, realness

#### **Learning Strategies**

- 1. Learn about neurodiversity together. Start with curiosity, not judgment.
- 2. Create space for both partners to express their experiences and needs.
- 3. Set the expectation that differences are normal and can be strengths.
- 4. Practice self-compassion and patience as you both learn new skills.
- 5. Agree to revisit and adjust strategies as your relationship grows.

#### Solo Exercise:

- 1. Take five minutes to list all the ways you are different from your partner.
- 2. Then, list at least three ways those differences have helped your relationship, even in small ways.
- 3. Reflect on how these differences could become strengths with understanding and support.

#### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Together, share a story about a time when your differences led to misunderstanding.
- 2. Then, share a story when your differences helped you succeed together.
- 3. Discuss: What made the difference between frustration and teamwork?

When have I felt misunderstood in relationships? What did I wish my partner understood about me?		
2.	In what ways do I show up as my most authentic self in my relationship?	
3.	What do I hope to learn or gain from reading this book?	
W	orksheet: Embracing Our Unique Relationship	
1.	List three things I love about my partner's uniqueness:	
2.	List three things my partner might find challenging about my uniqueness:	

3. What is one hope I have for our relationship as we learn together?
FAQs
1. Q: Is one partner's way the right way?
A: No. Neurodiversity means there are many valid ways to experience and interact with the world. Both partners' perspectives are important.
2. Q: Can a neurodiverse relationship really work?
A: Absolutely! Many couples thrive when they learn to communicate, support, and celebrate each other's differences.
3. Q: What if we feel stuck or overwhelmed?
A: It's normal to feel challenged. This book will offer tools, but professional support from a neurodiversity-affirming counselor can help too.
4. Q: Is this book just for autism/ADHD couples?
A: While much research focuses on autism and ADHD, the tools here are helpful for any couples with different neurotypes, including dyslexia, dyspraxia, and "undiagnosed" differences.

5. Q: How can we keep both partners' needs in mind?

A: By practicing open communication, curiosity, and flexibility. This book will help you find strategies that honor both partners.

#### **Troubleshooting**

1. What if our differences feel overwhelming?

It's common to feel lost, especially if your relationship doesn't look like those in movies or advice books. Start small: focus on understanding one difference at a time. Use this book's tools as experiments, not rules. If you hit a wall, pause, breathe, and revisit the basics: curiosity, compassion, and communication.

2. What if one partner isn't interested in learning?

Change often starts with one person. Use the solo exercises yourself, and model curiosity and respect. Over time, partners may become more open when they see positive changes.

3. What if we keep having the same arguments?

Patterns are normal! Use the journaling and worksheet tools to spot patterns, and try a new strategy from the script library. Consider seeking support if you feel stuck.

4. What if we don't know what "neurotype" we are?

That's okay. Labels can help, but they aren't required. Focus on understanding and respecting each other's unique needs and communication styles.

#### **Chapter Highlights:**

- Neurodiversity is a natural and valuable part of human relationships.
- Differences can cause friction—but also create unique strengths.
- With the right tools, neurodifferent/neurotypical couples can thrive.
- Curiosity, compassion, and experimentation are key.

#### **Practice Scripts:**

#### For either partner, try:

- a. "I notice we see this differently. Can we talk about what each of us needs?"
- b. "I'm not sure I understand. Could you explain that another way?"
- c. "It's okay that we process things differently. Let's find a solution that works for both of us."

## **Closing Thoughts:**

Your relationship may not fit the mold, and that's a gift. This book is your invitation to embrace difference, explore new tools, and write your own love story. Let's begin the journey together.

# Chapter 1: Neurodiversity in Relationships

"Difference is not disorder. Difference is humanity." ~ Dr. Nick Walker

Relationships work best when both partners are seen and valued for who they truly are. For neurodifferent and neurotypical couples, this process begins with a clear, affirming understanding of neurodiversity. When you know what neurodiversity is—and what it is not—you can replace confusion with compassion and bring out the best in each other. This chapter will help you define neurodiversity, recognize common neurotypes, and notice how these differences show up in daily life and love.

#### Case Study 1: Jeff and Paulette

Jeff and Paulette had been dating for six months before they realized their differences might go deeper than just personality. Jeff, who has ADHD, was always brimming with new ideas and jumping from one topic to the next. Paulette, who is neurotypical, loved planning and found comfort in routines. When Paulette suggested they book their next vacation six months in advance, Jeff felt overwhelmed and distracted. Later, when Jeff wanted to talk about three projects at once, Paulette felt lost.

At first, they both blamed themselves: Jeff for being scatterbrained, and Paulette for being boring. But after attending a workshop on neurodiversity, they learned that brains are wired in many ways, and difference does not mean deficit. This insight changed their conversations and their connection. "We stopped trying to fix each other," Paulette later said. "We started asking, 'How do we make this work for both of us?'"

#### Case Study 2: Alex and Harper

Alex, a nonbinary person in their mid-30s with dyspraxia, and Harper, a middle-aged neurotypical woman, met through an online book club. Their relationship quickly deepened, but they realized their communication styles were very different: Alex preferred written messages and needed time to process, while Harper loved spontaneous phone calls. They learned to meet halfway: Harper would send a text before calling, and Alex would let Harper know when they needed quiet time. Their mutual respect laid a solid foundation for their partnership.

#### **Research Insights**

Neurodiversity is a term that describes the natural variation in how human brains develop and function. Rather than seeing conditions such as autism, ADHD, or dyslexia as problems, the neurodiversity movement recognizes them as part of normal human diversity (Walker, 2021). Just as we accept differences in culture, language, or appearance, we can accept cognitive differences as well.

#### **Neurotypes include:**

- Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)
- Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)
- Dyslexia
- Dyspraxia (Developmental Coordination Disorder)
- Dyscalculia• Tourette Syndrome
- Others, including people who are undiagnosed, but experience the world differently

Often, people have a combination of these neurotypes, such as AuDHD (Autism and ADHD), plus Dyslexia.

Approximately one in five people are neurodivergent (Botha & Frost, 2020). Neurodivergent people may process information, emotions, and social cues differently from neurotypical people. In partnerships, these differences can lead to misunderstandings, but also bring unique strengths. Research shows that when couples understand their neurotypes and communicate openly, they are more likely to feel supported and satisfied in their relationship (Aston, 2009; Hendrickx, 2021).

**Table: Neurotypes and Common Partnership Experiences** 

Some Neurotypes	Strengths	Challenges
Autism	Honesty, focus, pattern recognition	Reading social cues, sensory overload
ADHD	Creativity, energy, adaptability	Attention, impulsivity, time management
Dyslexia	Visual thinking, problem- solving	Written communication, organization
Dyspraxia	Persistence, empathy	Physical coordination, daily routines
Neurotypical	Social intuition, flexibility	Missing less-visible needs of partner

#### **Partner Strategies**

- 1. Start conversations with curiosity about each other's brain wiring.
- 2. Use clear language about needs and differences.
- 3. Learn about common neurotypes together to build understanding.
- 4. Avoid making assumptions based on stereotypes. Ask your partner how their neurotype shows up for them. Celebrate both partners' strengths.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. Write down any terms you have heard about neurodiversity or neurotypes.
- 2. Circle the ones you relate to or want to learn more about.
- 3. Reflect on how your brain's unique wiring has shaped your experiences in relationships.

#### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Share with your partner one thing you've discovered about your own neurotype.
- 2. Listen as your partner shares about their experiences.
- 3. Discuss: How do your differences show up in your daily life together?

#### Mindfulness Log

- 1. What words or labels have I used to describe myself or my partner's differences? Are these words helpful or unhelpful?
- 2. How do I feel when my partner responds to the world differently from me?
- 3. What is one thing I am curious to learn about neurodiversity?

1.	My neurotype or way of thinking is:	
2.	My partner's neurotype or way of thinking is:	
3.	One thing I appreciate about my neurotype:	
4.	One thing I appreciate about my partner's neuro	type:
5.	One way our differences have helped us:	
F	AQs	
1.	Q: What is neurodiversity?	

**Worksheet: Exploring Our Neurotypes** 

A: Neurodiversity means that there are many natural ways for brains to be wired. It

includes everyone, not just those with a diagnosis.

#### 2. Q: Do I need a diagnosis to be included in neurodiversity?

A: No. Neurodiversity is about recognizing and respecting differences, not about labels or paperwork.

#### 3. Q: Can people be a mix of neurotypes?

A: Yes. Many people have traits from more than one neurotype, or may not fit neatly into any one box. For example, a person could have autism and ADHD (AuDHD), as well as dyslexia.

#### 4. Q: Is being neurodivergent a disability?

A: For some, neurodivergence can be disabling in certain settings. But neurodiversity is not about fixing anyone. It's about acceptance and support.

#### 5. Q: How do I talk to my partner about neurodiversity?

A: Use open, curious language. Focus on sharing experiences, not assigning blame or looking for problems.

#### **Troubleshooting**

1. What if I feel uncomfortable with labels?

It's normal to be unsure about words like "neurodivergent" or "neurotypical." Use only the labels that feel right for you. Focus on understanding and respecting each other's experiences, not on fitting into a specific box.

2. What if we disagree about our neurotypes?

That's okay. You don't have to agree on everything. Use your differences as a starting point for conversation, not conflict.

3. What if I'm afraid my partner won't understand my neurotype?

It can be scary to share new information about yourself. Start small, and use some of the Practice Scripts to begin the conversation.

4. What if our families don't understand neurodiversity?

Families may need time and education. Share resources from the appendix, and remember that you can set boundaries about what you share. For example, you don't need to share about your partner's "neuro-different" traits.

#### **Chapter Highlights**

- Neurodiversity means there are many valid ways for brains to work.
- Neurotypes include autism, ADHD, dyslexia, dyspraxia, and more.
- Understanding differences leads to more connection and less conflict.
- You do not need a diagnosis to benefit from neurodiversity-affirming ideas.

#### **Practice Scripts**

#### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "I've been learning about neurodiversity and I think it helps explain some of our differences."
- b. "I'd like to know more about how your brain works. What helps you feel understood?"
- c. "We both bring something valuable to this relationship. Let's talk about what we need."
- d. "Is there a way you prefer to communicate important things? I want to make sure I'm reaching you in a way that feels good."

#### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

a. "Sometimes I need to step away to think before I answer. I'm not ignoring you—I just process things differently."

- b. "I feel most comfortable when I can write things down first. Is that okay with you?"
- c. "I know our brains work differently, and I'm open to learning what you need."

#### **Closing Thoughts**

Understanding neurodiversity is the first step toward a more compassionate, connected relationship. By seeing and celebrating both partners' unique ways of thinking and being, you lay the foundation for trust, empathy, and growth. Your journey together is one-of-a-kind. Let's honor every step.

# **Chapter 2: Building Compassionate Curiosity**

"Curiosity is the wick in the candle of learning." ~ William Arthur Ward

It's easy to slip into judgment when confronted with differences, especially in close relationships. But when we replace judgment with curiosity, we open the door to understanding and compassion. Compassionate curiosity is the practice of seeking to understand your partner's unique perspective, not just to tolerate differences but to genuinely value them. In neurodivergent/neurotypical relationships, this mindset transforms misunderstandings into opportunities for growth and closeness.

#### Case Study 1: Alex and Jordan

Alex and Jordan had a recurring conflict about time management. Jordan, who is neurotypical, valued punctuality and felt respected when people arrived on time. Alex, who is neurodivergent with ADHD, often lost track of time and struggled to transition between activities. At first, Jordan saw Alex's lateness as a lack of respect, while Alex felt frustrated by expectations that seemed impossible to meet. One day, after a particularly tense argument, Jordan stopped and said, "Help me understand how time feels for you." That simple question shifted their entire dynamic. Alex explained how time could seem to vanish and how reminders or visual timers helped. Jordan realized it wasn't about disrespect. It was about different wiring. Together, they found new ways to support each other, turning a source of conflict into a source of connection.

#### Case Study 2: Evelyn & Mateo

Evelyn, a 65-year-old neurotypical woman, and Mateo, her husband in his early 70s, have been together for decades. She always thought he was rather picky and oversensitive. However, after Mateo's recent diagnosis revealed his autism, many past misunderstandings and fights suddenly made sense. They attended neurodiversity workshops and joined an online support group for older couples. This new understanding helped them adapt their routines and embrace neurodiversity as a strength in their marriage. They became closer than ever.

#### **Research Insights**

Curiosity is a cornerstone of healthy relationships, especially for couples with different neurotypes. Studies show that when partners approach each other with curiosity rather than criticism, they are more likely to resolve conflicts effectively and feel emotionally close (Gottman, 2019). Compassionate curiosity means asking open questions, listening without assumptions, and being willing to learn, even when it feels uncomfortable.

Research on neurodiverse couples highlights that moving from judgment ("Why can't you just...?") to curiosity ("What's it like for you when...?") reduces defensiveness and increases trust (Aston, 2009). Embracing differences as strengths, rather than flaws, fosters resilience and creativity in relationships (Hendrickx, 2021). When both partners feel safe to be themselves, the relationship becomes a place of growth, not just compromise.

**Table: Judgment vs. Compassionate Curiosity** 

Situation	Judgment Response	Compassionate Curiosity Response
Partner forgets a plan	"You never remember anything."	"What helps you remember plans?"
Partner needs alone time	"Why are you avoiding me?"	"Do you need a break to recharge?"
Partner misunderstands or misses non-verbal cue	"You just don't pay attention."	"How did you interpret what I said?"
Partner is overwhelmed /experiencing sensory overload	"Stop overreacting."	"What feels overwhelming right now?"

#### **Strategies**

- 1. Notice when you feel judgmental or frustrated with your partner's differences.
- 2. Pause and ask yourself, "What would it be like to get curious instead?"
- 3. Use open-ended questions to invite your partner's perspective.
- 4. Reflect on your own reactions with self-compassion.
- 5. Practice naming and celebrating at least one difference as a strength each week.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. Recall a recent moment when you felt irritated by your partner's behavior.
- 2. Write down your first judgmental thought.
- 3. Now, reframe it as a curious question. For example, change "Why are they so disorganized?" to "I wonder what helps them stay organized?"

#### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Each partner shares one thing the other does that is hard to understand.
- 2. Instead of defending or explaining, the listener asks, "Can you tell me more about what that's like for you?"
- 3. Notice how curiosity changes the conversation.

# Mindfulness Log

1.	vinen do i notice myself jumping to conclusions about my partner's intentions?
2.	How does it feel to be asked a curious question instead of being judged?
	What difference would it make if I treated confusion as an opportunity to learn, not to ame?
٧	Vorksheet: Practicing Compassionate Curiosity
1.	List one behavior of my partner that I often judge:
2.	Write a curious question I could ask about this behavior:
3.	List one strength my partner has that is different from mine:
4.	Write a way I could acknowledge or celebrate this strength:

#### **FAQs**

1. Q: Isn't it natural to judge when something feels frustrating?

A: Yes, judgment is a normal reaction. The goal isn't to never judge, but to notice it and choose curiosity instead.

2. Q: What if my partner doesn't respond well to my curiosity?

A: It can take time to feel safe being vulnerable. Keep your questions gentle, and respect your partner's boundaries.

3. Q: How do I stay curious when I'm upset?

A: Take a break if needed. Curiosity works best when you feel calm enough to listen.

4. Q: Can curiosity help with old arguments?

A: Yes. Revisit past conflicts with a new question, like, "Can you help me understand what was going on for you?"

5. Q: What if we have very different strengths?

A: That's normal. Different strengths can make your partnership more balanced and creative.

#### **Troubleshooting**

1. What if I keep slipping into judgment?

Changing patterns takes time. Be mindful: Notice when judgment happens without shaming yourself. Pause, breathe, and try again the next time. Even small shifts make a difference.

2. What if my partner rejects my attempts to be curious?

Sometimes curiosity can feel threatening if trust is low. Reassure your partner you're not trying to criticize, just to understand. It's okay to give space and try again later.

3. What if I don't know what to ask?

Start with simple questions like, "Can you tell me more?" or "What is that like for you?" You don't need perfect words—just an open mind.

4. What if I feel overwhelmed by our differences?

Focus on one thing at a time. Celebrate small wins and remind yourself that compassionate curiosity is a practice, not a destination.

#### **Chapter Highlights**

- Compassionate curiosity transforms judgment into understanding.
- Open questions build trust and connection.
- Embracing differences as strengths makes relationships more resilient.
- Small, curious conversations can make a big impact.

#### **Practice Scripts**

#### It you're either partner, try:

- a. "What is that like for you?"
- b. "Can you help me understand how you experience this?"
- c. "I'm curious about what you need in this situation. Will you tell me more?"

#### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Learning about your neurotype helps me see things from your perspective.
   Thank you for sharing with me."
- b. "What does neurodiversity mean to you in our relationship?"

#### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "Since understanding my neurotype, I've realized why certain things are hard. I'd love to talk about what helps me."
- b. "I appreciate you being open about learning with me."

#### **Closing Thoughts**

Compassionate curiosity is the heart of loving partnership. By choosing to learn instead of judge, you create a safe space for both you and your partner to grow. Every difference can be a doorway to deeper understanding.

# Chapter 3: Self-Care & Survival Tips for NT Partners

"You can't pour from an empty cup." ~ Anonymous

Neurotypical partners in neurodiverse relationships often find themselves navigating new territory: learning about different communication styles, adapting routines, and supporting their neurodivergent loved one through unique challenges. While empathy and flexibility are vital, it's just as important for NT partners to care for their own needs, set boundaries, and cultivate resilience. This chapter is for you: the neurotypical partner who loves deeply, learns continuously, and sometimes feels exhausted, unseen, or confused. You matter, too.

#### Case Study: Megan and Luis

Megan, a neurotypical woman, often felt "on duty" in her marriage to Luis, who is autistic and struggles with executive function. After a period of burnout and resentment, Megan joined a local partners' support group and began seeing a counselor. She and Luis created a new routine: Megan had two evenings a week for her own activities, and Luis used visual reminders to handle dinner and chores those nights. Megan found she had more energy and patience, and Luis appreciated the trust and independence. Their partnership grew stronger as both learned to care for themselves and each other.

Later, Megan noticed she was taking on all of the emotional work in planning family events. She and Luis agreed to use a shared digital calendar and set up a weekly planning hour, where tasks were divided. Megan celebrated her progress by treating herself to solo hikes, and Luis sent her thank-you notes to acknowledge her support. Both partners learned that attending to Megan's needs wasn't just possible. It made the relationship better for both of them.

#### **Research Insights**

Neurotypical partners in neurodiverse relationships often experience unique forms of stress, emotional labor, and even burnout. Studies have documented that partners of autistic adults frequently report high levels of anxiety, isolation, and exhaustion, especially when they feel responsible for translating between their partner and the world, or when support needs are not balanced in the relationship (Phelps et al., 2020; Hirvikoski et al., 2016).

A recurring finding is that neurotypical partners may suppress their own needs to "keep the peace" or avoid triggering their partner's distress, leading to reduced self-care and increased relationship strain (Aston, 2014). Research highlights the importance of boundary-setting and self-advocacy for neurotypical partners; without these skills, emotional fatigue and resentment can accumulate, negatively impacting both partners (Crompton et al., 2020).

Peer and professional support have been shown to be effective protective factors. Accessing therapy, support groups, and psychoeducation can help neurotypical partners process their feelings, gain perspective, and develop coping strategies, ultimately improving their own well-being and the overall health of the relationship (Holliday Willey, 2012; Phelps et al., 2020).

Additionally, relationship satisfaction improves when both partners are encouraged to openly communicate their needs and when neurotypical partners engage in regular self-care routines—including time for rest, social connection, hobbies, and personal growth (Crompton et al., 2020). Mutual respect for differences, rather than self-sacrifice or trying to fix the other, supports long-term resilience and intimacy (Aston, 2014).

#### **Understanding Your Role**

Being in a neurodiverse relationship can feel like learning a new language. You might sometimes feel like the "translator," the "organizer," or even the "default" partner for handling crises. This emotional labor is real and can lead to burnout if you don't have support.

#### It's normal to:

- Feel frustrated or isolated
- Worry about saying or doing "the wrong thing"
- Miss aspects of a more "typical" relationship
- Need time for yourself

#### **NT Survival Strategies**

#### 1. Name Your Needs

You are allowed to have needs, emotions, and preferences, even if your partner's needs often take center stage.

#### Strategies:

- a. Make a Needs List: Write down your top five non-negotiables for emotional and physical well-being (e.g., quiet time, affection, rest, social connection, time in nature).
- b. Communicate Clearly: Use "I" statements to express your needs. For example: "I need a quiet hour after work to decompress."
- c. Check In With Yourself: Regularly review your needs. Are they being met?

  Have they changed?

#### 2. Set Healthy Boundaries

Boundaries aren't just for conflict. They're essential for everyday well-being.

#### Strategies:

- a. Define Your Limits: Write out what is (and isn't) okay for you in your relationship, home, and daily life.
- b. Practice Assertiveness: Say no to requests that overwhelm you. For example: "I'm not able to talk about this right now. Let's check in later."
- c. Protect Your Space: Create a physical or mental "retreat" (a room, a walk, or a ritual) that is just for you.
- d. Revisit Regularly: Boundaries can change! Review and adjust as life evolves.

#### 3. Seek Support. You Don't Have to Go It Alone

You shouldn't have to go it alone.

#### Strategies:

- a. Find Your People: Seek out friends, family, or online/in-person support groups for partners of neurodivergent individuals.
- b. Professional Help: Consider individual therapy to process feelings, gain perspective, and build coping tools.
- c. Relationship Check-Ins: Schedule regular check-ins with your partner about how you're both doing—not just when there's a crisis.

#### 4. Educate Yourself, But Don't Carry It All

Learning about neurodivergence helps, but don't let it consume all your time or become your sole responsibility.

#### Strategies:

- a. Share Resources: Read books and articles, or attend workshops together when possible.
- b. Set Learning Boundaries: Balance your research time with self-care, hobbies, and relaxation.
- c. Ask for Your Partner's Input: Invite your ND partner to share what they want you to know, and how you can learn together.

#### 5. Prioritize Self-Care: The Replenishment Toolkit

Your well-being is not selfish. It's vital.

#### Strategies:

- a. Schedule "Me Time": Block out regular, non-negotiable time for yourself—reading, walking, hobbies, or simply resting.
- b. Move Your Body: Exercise reduces stress and boosts mood—find what you enjoy, whether it's yoga, running, dancing, or gardening.
- c. Protect Sleep: Set a bedtime routine that helps you unwind—limit screens, use calming rituals, and set boundaries around late-night requests.
- d. Eat Well: Nourish your body with regular meals and snacks, and notice when hunger or dehydration is affecting your mood.
- e. Nurture Your Senses: Take a hot bath, listen to music, enjoy a favorite scent, or spend time in nature.

#### 6. Manage Guilt and Resentment

It's common to feel guilty for wanting "me time" or resentful during tough periods.

#### Strategies:

a. Notice and Name Your Feelings: Journaling, talking to a friend, or saying your feelings aloud can help.

- b. Practice Self-Compassion: Remind yourself that your needs are valid and worthy of care.
- c. Release "Superhero" Expectations: You are not solely responsible for your partner's happiness or well-being.
- d. Seek Guidance: If resentment builds, consider relationship counseling or peer support to process and resolve it.

# 7. Celebrate Progress and Find Joy

Take time to acknowledge growth, resilience, and positive moments, both individually and as a couple.

#### Strategies:

- a. Keep a "Win Journal": Write down daily or weekly successes, no matter how small.
- b. Share Gratitude: Express appreciation for yourself and your partner, verbally or in writing.
- c. Find Shared Fun: Identify activities you both enjoy (even if different!) and make time for laughter, creativity, or adventure.
- d. Acknowledge Your Journey: Reflect on what you've learned and how you've grown—even the hard parts have value.

#### **More Self-Care Ideas for NT Partners**

- a. Creative Outlets: Try art, music, writing, or crafting as a way to decompress and express yourself.
- b. Mindfulness Practices: Meditation, deep breathing, or mindful walking can restore calm and clarity.
- c. Digital Detox: Take breaks from screens, especially if you use them for work or ND research.

- d. Connection Outside the Relationship: Spend time with friends, family, or community groups who uplift you and offer perspective.
- e. Nature Time: Even short walks outdoors can reduce stress and boost mood.

# **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. What are three things that restore your energy?
- 2. When do you feel most supported in your relationship?
- 3. What boundaries do you need to set (or reinforce) for your well-being?
- 4. Who can you reach out to for support, encouragement, or advice?
- 5. How have you grown as a partner in this relationship?
- 6. What's one step you can take this week to nurture yourself?

Worksheet: My Self-Care Plan
My top three needs for well-being:
My boundaries to protect my time and energy:
My support network (people, groups, professionals):
Self-care activities that help me recharge:

#### **FAQs**

1. Q: Isn't self-care just selfishness?

A: No. Self-care is essential for emotional, physical, and mental health. In relationships—especially those with unique demands—self-care helps you remain available, compassionate, and resilient. It's not about neglecting your partner; it's about maintaining your own well-being so you can show up fully.

2. Q: If I set boundaries, am I being mean or rejecting my partner?

A: Setting boundaries is not a form of rejection. Healthy boundaries clarify your needs and limits, and actually strengthen relationships by promoting respect and preventing resentment. Boundaries are acts of self-respect and mutual care.

3. Q: Do neurotypical partners always have to do the "heavy lifting" in neurodiverse relationships?

A: While NT partners are sometimes called upon to adapt or advocate, healthy relationships require shared effort. With communication, planning, and support, both partners can contribute in ways that suit their strengths and needs. If the relationship feels one-sided, it's a sign to seek new strategies or support.

4. Q: Isn't it normal for one partner to want to fix things for the other?

A: No one should be responsible for "fixing" their partner. Each person is responsible for their own growth and well-being. Support and compassion are vital, but so are autonomy and mutual respect.

5. Q: If we need outside help, does that mean our relationship is failing?

A: Not at all. Seeking therapy, support groups, or coaching is a strength, not a weakness. Every couple can benefit from outside perspectives and tools, especially when navigating neurodiverse dynamics. Look for support groups for partners of neurodivergent adults, online forums, books, and neurodiversity-affirming therapists or coaches. Community can offer validation, practical advice, and a reminder that you are not alone.

- 6. Q: My partner's neurodivergence means my needs don't matter, right?

  A: Your needs always matter. Neurodivergence may change how needs are met, but does not erase your right to care, respect, and fulfillment in the relationship.
- 7. Q: Should I always put my partner's needs first because they're neurodivergent?
  A: No. A healthy relationship considers both partners' needs. It's about partnership, not martyrdom. Sacrificing your own well-being leads to burnout and imbalance.
  Sustainable relationships require give and take from both partners. Discuss this openly and work together to identify places where your partner can meet you halfway. Use a "needs inventory" and regular check-ins to ensure both of you are supported
- 8. Q: Is it true that neurotypical/neurodivergent relationships are destined to fail?

  A: Absolutely not. With communication, understanding, self-care, and willingness to adapt, many neurodiverse couples build strong, loving, and lasting relationships.
- 9. Q: Is it a sign that our relationship is hopeless if we keep having the same misunderstandings?
- A: Recurring misunderstandings are common in all relationships, especially those with neurotype differences. With patience, learning, and sometimes outside help, most couples can improve communication and reduce conflict over time.
- 10. Q: If my partner doesn't express affection in the usual ways, does that mean they don't love me?

A: Not necessarily. Neurodivergent partners may express affection differently or struggle with certain gestures. Honest conversations about love languages and meaningful actions can bridge this gap.

11. Q: How do I know if I need professional help (for myself or our relationship)?

A: If you feel persistently overwhelmed, anxious, depressed, or hopeless, or if you're encountering recurring communication breakdowns or emotional distress, it's wise to seek professional support. Therapy can provide tools, perspective, and a safe space to explore solutions.

12. Q: How can I encourage my partner to take on more responsibility without causing conflict?

A: Use collaborative language and focus on shared goals: "I'd like us to share this responsibility so we both have more energy for fun things together." Break tasks into manageable steps, use written plans or checklists, and celebrate small successes.

13. Q: What should I do if our relationship feels unbalanced despite my efforts?

A: Relationships go through phases, but persistent imbalance is a sign to reassess.

Revisit boundaries, communicate openly, and consider couples counseling. Remember, you deserve a relationship in which both partners' needs are valued and respected.

#### **Troubleshooting**

Even with the best intentions and plans, self-care and boundary-setting can feel difficult in a neurodiverse relationship. Here are some common roadblocks and practical strategies to help you navigate them.

1. "I feel guilty taking time for myself". It's common to feel selfish or guilty when prioritizing your own needs, especially if your partner often requires extra support.

#### What to try:

- Remind yourself (and your partner) that self-care is not abandonment or rejection. It's necessary for a healthy relationship.
- Reframe your thinking: "When I'm rested, I can be more present and supportive."
- Share your plan with your partner: "Taking this time will help me recharge, and I'll be back and ready to connect."
- 2. "My partner doesn't understand my boundaries". Sometimes, a neurodivergent partner might not recognize or remember your boundaries, especially if they struggle with perspective-taking or change.

#### What to try:

- Communicate boundaries clearly and consistently, using simple language.
- Use reminders (like visual cues, notes, or shared calendars) to reinforce boundaries.
- Revisit the conversation regularly; be patient as it may take time to adjust.
- **3. "All the emotional labor falls on me".** NT partners often find themselves managing schedules, emotions, and social interactions.

#### What to try:

- Make a list of recurring invisible tasks you handle.
- Set up regular relationship check-ins to discuss and redistribute responsibilities.
- Encourage your partner to use reminders, apps, or external supports to increase independence.

**4.** "I'm burned out and resentful". Unaddressed burnout can lead to resentment and distance in the relationship.

#### What to try:

- Take a step back and assess: Are you doing too much? What can you delegate or let go?
- Seek outside support: trusted friends, support groups, or a counselor can help you process and reset.
- Communicate openly (when calm): "I'm feeling overwhelmed and need to take a break for myself, so I can come back refreshed."
- **5. "We keep having the same misunderstandings".** Communication differences can create recurring conflicts or confusion.

#### What to try:

- Use agreed-upon scripts or written communication for tricky topics.
- Clarify meanings and intentions; don't assume shared understanding.
- Consider working with a couples therapist who understands neurodiverse dynamics.
- **6.** "I have no time or energy left for myself". Life demands can crowd out self-care, especially in busy households or caregiving situations.

### What to try:

- Schedule "micro-breaks". Even five minutes of deep breathing, stretching, or quiet can help.
- Ask for help from others (family, friends, community resources).
- Let go of perfection; prioritize a few essential self-care actions each week.

7. "I'm worried about my own mental health". Chronic stress or neglecting your own wellness can lead to anxiety or depression.

#### What to try:

- Pay attention to warning signs like persistent low mood, irritability, or trouble sleeping.
- Reach out to a mental health professional.
- Remember: Your mental health matters as much as your partner's.
- Remember: Self-care is not a one-time fix. It's an ongoing process. Be gentle
  with yourself, celebrate small wins, and adjust your strategies as your
  relationship evolves.

# **Practice Scripts**

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- 1. "I'd like to schedule some time for myself this weekend. Let's plan together so you have what you need, too."
- 2. "I appreciate everything we're both doing. Can we share the load differently so I don't feel overwhelmed?"
- 3. "I love you, and I also need support. Would you be willing to try couples counseling with me?"
- 4. "Can we talk about how we both get downtime in our routines?"

#### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- 1. "Thank you for helping me. How can I support you this week?"
- 2. "If you need time alone, please tell me. Your self-care matters, too."
- 3. "Let's make a plan so we both can rest and recharge."
- "I want to understand your needs better. What helps you feel cared for?"

# **Closing Thoughts**

You are not just a helper, interpreter, or caretaker. You are a whole person with needs, dreams, and strengths. Taking care of yourself is not abandoning your partner—it's investing in the health and future of your relationship. By honoring your own needs, you become a more resilient, loving, and authentic partner.

# Chapter 4: Communication Across Neurotypes

"Communication works for those who work at it." ~ John Powell

Communicating in a relationship is rarely simple, even when both partners share similar backgrounds and ways of thinking. For neurodivergent and neurotypical couples, differences in communication style (such as being literal or using nuance, reading between the lines or taking words at face value) can lead to frequent misunderstandings. This chapter explores these differences and provides practical tools to help you clarify, connect, and feel heard.

#### Case Study 1: Mia and Sam

Mia and Sam frequently found themselves frustrated after conversations. Mia, who is neurotypical, often used hints or indirect requests, expecting Sam to pick up on subtle cues. Sam, who is autistic, preferred straightforward, literal communication, and often took Mia's words at face value. When Mia said, "It's chilly in here," she hoped Sam would close the window. Sam, hearing a simple observation, responded with, "Yes, it is." Both felt unseen and unheard. After learning about direct and indirect communication styles, they began practicing saying what they actually meant and asking for clarification. Mia now says, "Could you please close the window?" and Sam feels comfortable asking, "Are you saying you want me to do something?" Their conversations became clearer, and their connection grew stronger.

#### Case Study 2: Jaleena and Hiroko

Jaleena, a Black autistic woman and Hiroko, a Japanese neurotypical woman were both in their thirties. They met in a coffee shop, found they had many interests in common,

and started meeting regularly. However, they often miscommunicated about their plans. Jaleena preferred direct, literal language and became anxious with vague statements. Hiroko conveyed what she meant through nuance and hints. Their communication challenges may have partly been due to cultural differences, but Jaleena also had other issues that Hiroko couldn't understand. For example, Jaleena would wince when Hiroko slurped her noodles. After a few frustrating exchanges, Jaleena explained she had autism as well as misophonia (a hatred of certain sounds). They agreed that they would use more explicit language and Jaleena would bring earplugs when they went out to eat. Also, they would check in with each other about their feelings and interpretations, which made their conversations and their relationship smoother and more reassuring. Moreover, Jaleena agreed to learn more about Japanese customs and Hiroko agreed to learn more about autism.

### **Research Insights**

Communication differences are one of the most common sources of tension in neurodiverse couples (Aston, 2014). Neurotypical partners may use nuanced language, metaphors, sarcasm, or social hints, while neurodivergent partners, especially those on the autism spectrum or with ADHD, often prefer direct, literal language.

Misunderstandings can build up when each partner assumes the other "should know" what is meant.

Research suggests that explicit communication (saying what you mean, and checking for understanding) reduces frustration and increases relationship satisfaction (Holliday Willey, 2012). Both partners benefit from learning to clarify, paraphrase, and ask questions when something is unclear. Over time, these skills strengthen trust and make both people feel respected.

**Table: Literal vs. Nuanced Communication Examples** 

Statement	Literal Interpretation	Nuanced/Implied Meaning
"It's getting late."	Observation about time	"We should leave now."
"I'm thirsty."	Stating a fact	"Could you get me a drink?"
"Do you want to help me with the dishes?"	Yes or no question	"Please help me with the dishes."
"That's an interesting idea."	It is interesting, nothing more	"I might disagree."

# **Communication Strategies**

- 1. Practice saying exactly what you mean, using clear and direct language.
- 2. Use "I" statements to express needs and requests.
- 3. When in doubt, ask for clarification: "Did you mean...?"
- 4. Paraphrase what your partner said to confirm understanding.
- 5. Agree together on cues or code words for when clarification is needed.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. Think of a recent time you misunderstood your partner or felt misunderstood.
- 2. Write down the words that were said.
- 3. Identify whether the confusion came from literal or nuanced language, and how you might clarify next time.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Each partner shares one example of a time they felt misunderstood.
- 2. Take turns rephrasing the statement to be more literal or more explanatory.
- 3. Discuss how these changes could help future conversations.

# Mindfulness Log

1. When do I tend to use hints or indirect language?
2. When do I feel most comfortable asking for clarification?
3. How does it feel to be understood on the first try?
Worksheet: Clarifying Our Communication
1. A phrase I often use that could be misunderstood:
2. The literal meaning of that phrase:
3. The implied or intended meaning:
4. A new, clearer way to say what I mean:

#### **FAQs**

1. Q: Is it better to always be literal?

A: Not always, but being clear and direct helps avoid misunderstandings. Adjust your style to fit the situation and your partner's needs.

2. Q: What if I feel awkward asking for clarification?

A: It can feel unnatural at first. Over time, asking questions and clarifying will feel more comfortable and will strengthen your connection.

3. Q: How can we handle sarcasm or jokes?

A: Agree to flag when a statement is meant as a joke or sarcasm, especially if one partner tends to interpret things literally.

4. Q: What if my partner gets frustrated with my communication style?

A: Talk openly about your differences, and remind each other that it's okay to need extra explanation or directness.

5. Q: Can we ever have "easy" conversations?

A: Yes, with practice, clear communication will become a habit and many conversations will feel easier and more satisfying.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if I keep defaulting to my old style?

Changing communication habits takes time. Notice when you slip into old patterns, and gently remind yourself to adjust.

2. What if my partner feels criticized when I ask for clarification?

Reassure your partner that your question is about understanding, not criticism. Use soft tones and explain your intention.

3. What if misunderstandings keep happening?

Identify common phrases or situations that cause confusion. Create a shared "cheat sheet" of phrases or ask for directness in those moments.

4. What if I feel exhausted by communication differences?

Take breaks when needed. Celebrate small improvements, and remember that clear communication is a skill you're building together.

## **Chapter Highlights**

- Neurodivergent and neurotypical partners may use language differently.
- Literal and nuanced communication styles are both valid, but can cause confusion.
- Clarity, directness, and checking for understanding build trust and prevent misunderstandings.
- New communication habits take practice, patience, and kindness.

# **Practice Scripts**

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Would it help if I was more direct when making plans?"
- b. "If I say something unclear, please ask me to explain. I want to avoid misunderstandings."

## If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "Sometimes I take things literally. If I misunderstand, can you clarify what you mean?"
- b. "I appreciate it when you say things directly. It helps me feel calm."
- c. "Just to be clear, are you asking me to do something?"
- d. "I want to make sure I understand. Can you say that another way?"
- e. "I appreciate when you tell me directly what you need."

# **Closing Thoughts**

Communication is a bridge, not a test. By learning to speak and listen across differences, you and your partner can navigate challenges, deepen your bond, and create a language all your own.

# Chapter 5: Emotional Fluency and Alexithymia

"Feelings are much like waves. We can't stop them from coming, but we can choose which ones to surf." ~ Jonatan Mårtensson

Emotions are part of every relationship, but recognizing, naming, and sharing them is not always easy, especially when partners process emotions differently. Some neurodivergent people experience alexithymia: difficulty identifying or describing feelings. Others may feel emotions intensely, or struggle to express them in ways that neurotypical partners expect. Building emotional fluency together helps both partners feel understood, valued, and connected.

# Case Study 1: Taylor and Morgan

Taylor often asked Morgan, "How do you feel?" Morgan, who is autistic and experiences alexithymia, found this question confusing. Sometimes Morgan would answer, "I don't know," or give a logical summary of recent events instead of naming a feeling: "We had a nice dinner at that restaurant last night".

Taylor, who is neurotypical and very expressive, sometimes felt shut out or worried that Morgan didn't care. After learning about alexithymia, Taylor realized Morgan was not avoiding emotions, but needed more time and different prompts to identify them. They started using emotion charts and sharing physical sensations or thoughts as a bridge to feelings. Over time, Morgan felt less pressured and Taylor felt more connected, even when emotions were hard to name.

# Case Study 2: Rowan and Sage

Rowan, a transgender man with ADHD, is highly expressive, while Sage, his neurotypical boyfriend, sometimes feels overwhelmed by Rowan's rapid mood swings. They learn to co-regulate by agreeing on a code word for when Sage needs a pause, and Rowan practices grounding techniques to manage emotional intensity. Over time, they both feel safer sharing their feelings.

## **Research Insights**

Alexithymia is a common experience for many neurodivergent people, especially those with autism or ADHD (Kinnaird et al., 2019). It means having difficulty recognizing and describing one's own emotions. This is not the same as lacking feelings; rather, emotions may be present but hard to access or put into words. Research shows that couples can struggle when one partner expects emotional sharing that the other cannot provide easily (Milton & Sims, 2016).

Building emotional fluency (learning to recognize, name, and express emotions) improves relationship satisfaction and reduces misunderstandings (Greenberg, 2016). Partners can support each other by using emotion checklists, describing physical sensations, and accepting different ways of expressing care (such as actions instead of words). Patience and nonjudgmental support are key.

# **Table: Emotional Expression Styles**

Style/Experience	Neurotypical Partner	Neurodivergent Partner (with Alexithymia)
Naming emotions	Easy, automatic	May need time or prompts
Showing emotions	Facial expressions, tone	May appear flat or neutral
Expressing love	Words, affection	Actions, routines, quiet presence
Stress response	Talking it through	Shutting down (withdrawal) needing space

# Strategies/Tools

- 1. Use emotion wheels or charts to help name feelings.
- 2. Ask about physical sensations or thoughts as a bridge to emotions.
- 3. Normalize taking time to process feelings.
- 4. Accept and value actions as legitimate ways to show care.
- 5. Reassure your partner that all feelings are welcome, even if they are hard to express.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. Reflect on a recent strong emotion.
- 2. Did you notice it first in your body, your thoughts, or your words?
- 3. Write down how you recognized and expressed it.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Together, choose an emotion word (such as "anxious" or "excited").
- 2. Each partner describes what that emotion feels like in their body, mind, or actions.
- 3. Notice and discuss any differences in how you each recognize and express emotions.

# **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. When is it easy for me to name my feelings? When is it hard?
- 2. What helps me feel safe expressing my emotions?
- 3. How do I show care or support—even when I don't use words?

۷	Worksheet: Growing Our Emotional Fluency		
1.	Three words that describe how I feel today:		
2.	One way I notice emotions in my body:		
3.	One action I take when I care about my partner:		

4. One thing my partner does that helps me feel supported:

# **FAQs**

1. Q: What is alexithymia?

A: Alexithymia is difficulty identifying and describing emotions. It is common in neurodivergent people and is not the same as lacking feelings.

2. Q: How can I support a partner who struggles to name feelings?

A: Use tools like emotion charts, ask about physical sensations, and be patient. Avoid pressuring your partner to talk before they are ready.

3. Q: What if I feel shut out emotionally?

A: Remember that your partner may need more time or different ways to express care. Notice their actions, not just their words.

4. Q: Can emotional fluency improve with practice?

A: Yes. Many people become more comfortable with emotions over time, especially with support and nonjudgmental curiosity.

5. Q: What if we express emotions very differently?

A: Celebrate the differences and talk openly about what each of you needs to feel understood and connected.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if I feel frustrated when my partner can't name their feelings?

It's okay to want emotional connection. Remember, your partner's difficulty is not a lack of love. Take breaks as needed and find other ways to connect.

2. What if I am the one who struggles with emotions?

Be gentle with yourself. Practice using tools like emotion wheels or journaling. Share with your partner what helps you feel safe.

3. What if we have emotional misunderstandings?

When disagreements happen, pause and revisit the conversation later. Use Practice Scripts to check in and clarify.

4. What if we avoid emotions altogether?

Start small. Share one word, one sensation, or one action that hints at how you feel. Emotional fluency can grow with tiny steps.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Alexithymia means difficulty naming or describing feelings, not a lack of emotion.
- Emotional fluency can be built with tools and patience.
- Partners may express care through actions as well as words.
- Accepting differences in emotional styles brings more connection and less frustration.

#### **Practice Scripts**

#### If you're either partner, try:

- a. "Can you help me understand how you're feeling, or what's going on in your body right now?"
- b. "I want you to know it's okay to take time to figure out your feelings."
- c. "I care about you, even when we express emotions differently."

#### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "When emotions run high, would you like a hug, or do you prefer space?"
- b. "How can I best support you when you're feeling overwhelmed?"

## If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "Sometimes my emotions come out all at once. If you need a break, let me know."
- b. "It helps when you remind me to take a breath when I'm upset."

# **Closing Thoughts**

Emotional fluency is a skill, not a fixed trait. By supporting each other's emotional journeys, you build trust and resilience in your relationship. Every feeling, named or unnamed, has a place in your partnership.

Chapter 6: Managing Sensory Differences

"Our senses are doorways to understanding, connection, and sometimes overwhelm.

Respecting each other's sensory world is a powerful act of love." ~ Anonymous

Everyone experiences the world through their senses, but sensory input can be

processed very differently from person to person. In neurodivergent/neurotypical

relationships, sensory differences can be a major source of stress, confusion, or even

conflict, but also an opportunity to deepen empathy and care. This chapter will help you

identify sensory triggers and needs, and guide you in creating a home and shared life

that feels good for both partners.

Case Study 1: Sasha and Ben

Sasha loved hosting dinner parties with friends, playing music in the background, and

keeping the lights bright and cheerful. Ben, who is autistic, often felt exhausted after

these gatherings and needed hours to recover. He was sensitive to loud sounds and

bright lights, but didn't know how to explain this to Sasha without feeling like a burden.

After one particularly difficult night, Ben finally shared his sensory needs. Together, they

experimented by dimming the lights, using softer music, and setting up a quiet space.

Their home became more peaceful for Ben, and Sasha was surprised to find she

enjoyed the calmer atmosphere too. By attending to each other's sensory boundaries,

they felt more at home with themselves and each other.

Case Study 2: Bea and Anwar

64

Bea, a neurotypical woman in her thirties, and Anwar, a hearing-challenged autistic man in his late twenties, share a love of art galleries, but the crowds and lighting often overwhelm Anwar. They compromise by visiting during off-peak hours. Anwar brings sunglasses and they use sign language for quiet communication. Their shared love for creativity becomes a source of connection, not conflict.

# **Research Insights**

Sensory processing differences are common among neurodivergent people, especially those with autism, ADHD, and sensory processing disorder (Robertson & Baron-Cohen, 2017). These differences can include hypersensitivity (over-responsiveness) or hyposensitivity (under-responsiveness) to sounds, lights, textures, smells, or other sensations. Sensory overload can lead to stress, irritability, or shutdowns.

Studies show that when couples talk openly about sensory needs and triggers, they experience less conflict and greater satisfaction (Leekam et al., 2007). Creating a sensory-friendly environment can involve small changes—like adjusting lighting, reducing noise, or providing fidget tools—that make a big difference. Respecting and adapting to each other's sensory worlds is an act of care and partnership.

**Table: Common Sensory Triggers and Supports** 

Sensory Area	Possible Triggers	Supports/Adaptations
Sound	Loud music, crowds, alarms	Noise-canceling headphones, soft music
Light	Bright lights, flickering	Dimmer switches, lamps, sunglasses
Touch	Certain fabrics, crowds	Soft clothing, weighted blankets
Smell	Strong perfumes, cooking	Fragrance-free products, open windows

# **Sensory Strategies**

- 1. Talk openly about your sensory likes, dislikes, and triggers.
- 2. Observe when you or your partner seem overwhelmed or uncomfortable.
- 3. Create a "sensory map" of your home or shared spaces—note areas that feel good or stressful.
- 4. Experiment with adaptations (lighting, sound, touch, etc.) and check in about their impact.
- 5. Build in sensory-friendly routines, like quiet time or use of comfort items.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. List three sensory experiences you enjoy and three that are difficult for you (e.g., sounds, textures, lights).
- 2. Reflect on how these preferences affect your mood, energy, or comfort.
- 3. Consider one small change you could make to support your own sensory well-being.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Each partner shares their top two sensory triggers and top two sensory comforts.
- 2. Work together to brainstorm ways to reduce triggers and increase comforts in your shared environment.
- 3. Choose one idea to try this week and check in about how it feels.

#### Mindfulness Log

- 1. When do I notice myself feeling overloaded, irritated, or drained by my senses?
- 2. How do I react to my partner's sensory needs—do I feel curious, frustrated, confused?
- 3. What is one thing I can do to help our space feel better for both of us?

# **Worksheet: Our Sensory-Friendly Plan**

1. The sensory experience I want to change most in our home:

2. One adaptation or support I'd like to try:

3. One way I will check in with my partner about our sensory needs:
4. A comfort item or calming strategy I'd like to include:
FAQs
1. Q: What if my sensory needs are very different from my partner's?
A: It's common. Look for compromises and shared spaces where both can be comfortable, and respect each other's need for breaks or alone time.
2. Q: Can sensory overload cause arguments?
A: Yes. Overwhelm can make people irritable or withdrawn. Recognize overload as a need, not a personal slight.
3. Q: How can I bring up my sensory needs without feeling "too sensitive"?
A: Remember, sensory needs are real and valid. Use clear language and suggest practical solutions.

4. Q: Are sensory differences only about autism?

A: No. Sensory preferences and sensitivities can be part of many neurotypes, including ADHD, and even among neurotypical people.

5. Q: How do we handle sensory issues at family events or in public?

A: Plan ahead for breaks, bring comfort items, and agree on signals or exit plans if needed.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if my partner doesn't understand my sensory needs?

Education helps. Share articles, use metaphors, or invite your partner to try your sensory supports. Be patient. Understanding grows over time.

2. What if there's a clash (e.g., one loves loud music, the other needs quiet)?

Divide spaces when possible, use headphones, or take turns. Compromise is key, and it's okay to have different sensory "zones."

3. What if I feel embarrassed or ashamed of my sensory needs?

You are not alone. Sensory needs are part of who you are. Practice self-compassion and know that honoring your needs helps your relationship, too.

4. What if we forget to check in about sensory needs?

Make it a regular conversation, not just when there's a problem. Use reminders or rituals to keep communication going.

## **Chapter Highlights**

- Sensory differences are common and valid in neurodivergent/neurotypical relationships.
- Identifying triggers and comforts helps prevent overwhelm and conflict.
- Small adaptations create a more welcoming, sensory-friendly environment for both partners.
- Respecting each other's sensory needs is an act of love and care.

## **Practice Scripts**

## If you're either partner, try:

"I want you to feel at home here. Let's talk about what each of us needs."

## If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Is there a way I can help you feel more comfortable with the lights or sounds here?"
- b. "Would you like to leave early or take a break if things get too much?"
- c. "What sensory changes could make this space more comfortable for you?"

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I'm feeling overwhelmed by the noise. Can we turn the music down or take a break?"
- b. "I want to enjoy this with you, but I might need to step out if it gets too noisy."
- c. "It helps me when we plan ahead for sensory challenges."

# **Closing Thoughts**

Your senses shape how you experience the world and each other. By honoring and adapting to your sensory differences, you create a relationship that feels safe, welcoming, and deeply supportive for both partners.

Chapter 7: Executive Function in Daily Life

"Success is the sum of small efforts, repeated day in and day out." ~ Robert Collier

Managing time, organizing space, and keeping up with daily routines can be challenging in any relationship, but especially so when executive function differences come into play. Many neurodivergent people experience struggles with planning, task initiation, and transitions. These are not issues of motivation or caring; they are part of how the brain manages information and actions. This chapter will help you create routines, divide chores, and support each other in ways that build cooperation instead of

resentment.

Case Study 1: Charlie and Rowan

Charlie always felt overwhelmed by the clutter in their apartment and frustrated when chores went undone. Rowan, who is ADHD, often intended to help, but forgot tasks or got sidetracked. They tried alternating chores, but it quickly fell apart. Neither could remember whose turn it was, and routine changes felt disruptive and stressful for Rowan. After some trial and error, they made a list of all the regular chores and each chose which ones to do consistently. Charlie handled laundry and dishes, while Rowan took care of trash and mail. This fixed routine, along with visible checklists and gentle reminders, eased anxiety for both. They stopped arguing about chores and started feeling like a team.

Case Study 2: Jamie and Nora

73

Jamie, a nonbinary person with dyslexia, and Nora, a neurotypical woman, struggle with organizing bills and paperwork. Jamie feels anxious about reading long forms and often procrastinates. Nora suggests breaking tasks into smaller steps and using apps with voice-to-text features. They set aside Sunday afternoons for paperwork, making the process less daunting for both.

# **Research Insights**

Executive function is a set of mental skills that help people plan, organize, remember, and complete tasks (Barkley, 2011). Neurodivergent people, especially those with ADHD, autism, or learning differences, may struggle with these skills, which can impact daily life and relationships. Forgetting chores, losing track of time, or having trouble starting tasks is not laziness; it is a neurological difference.

Research shows that fixed routines, visual schedules, and clear division of responsibilities help reduce stress and conflict in neurodiverse households (Murray, 2017). Alternating or changing routines can create confusion and anxiety, so sticking to predictable patterns is key. Sleep differences are also common. Many neurodivergent people find alarm clocks stressful or have difficulty falling and staying asleep (Hollway & Aman, 2011). Supporting each other with reminders, planning tools, and flexibility makes life smoother and more harmonious.

# **Table: Executive Function Supports**

Area	Common Challenge	Support Strategy
Time Management	Forgetting appointments, being late	Digital calendars, visual timers
Organization	Clutter, losing items	Labeling, baskets, "homes" for items
Chores	Starting or switching tasks	Fixed lists, split responsibilities
Routines	Disrupted by change	Consistent schedules, minimal switching
Sleep	Trouble waking/sleeping, alarms	Gentle alarms, light therapy, flexible timing

# **Home Management Strategies**

- 1. Make a comprehensive list of all household tasks and routines.
- 2. Each partner chooses specific tasks to own. No alternating or switching unless both agree.
- 3. Use visual supports: checklists, calendars, reminders.
- 4. Create consistent wake-up and bedtime routines—minimize use of loud alarms if possible.
- 5. Support each other with gentle, agreed-upon reminders—not nagging.
- 6. Allow flexibility for days when executive function is especially challenging.

# **Solo Exercise**

- 1. List three daily or weekly tasks you find hardest to remember or complete.
- 2. Reflect on which tools (lists, alarms, visual cues) have been helpful in the past.
- 3. Write down one new support you'd like to try.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Together, make a list of all regular household chores and daily routines.
- 2. Each person chooses which tasks they will do every time. Avoid alternating or frequently changing assignments.
- 3. Post the list somewhere visible and check in weekly about how it's going.

#### Mindfulness Log

- 1. When do I feel most organized and on track? What helps?
- 2. When do I feel overwhelmed or stuck? What triggers this?
- 3. How do I feel when my partner reminds me, or when I remind them?

#### **Worksheet: Our Executive Function Plan**

1. Three chores or routines I will take responsibility for:

2. Three chores or routines my partner will take responsibility for:
3. One new tool or system we will try (calendar, checklist, etc.):
4. How we will check in or remind each other (method, timing, tone):
FAQs
1. Q: Why can't we just alternate chores?
A: Alternating adds unpredictability and can be hard to remember. Fixed assignments are more reliable and less stressful for many neurodivergent people.
2. Q: What if one person ends up with more work?
A: Revisit your list together and redistribute as needed. The goal is fairness and sustainability.
3. Q: How do we handle tasks we both dislike?
A: Consider splitting the least favorite jobs or rotating them only if both agree and can keep track.

4. Q: Are reminders helpful, or do they feel like nagging?

A: Everyone is different. Agree on preferred methods—some like gentle texts or sticky notes, others prefer phone alerts.

5. Q: What if sleep routines clash?

A: Try flexible schedules, quiet wake-up methods, or sleep aids like white noise or blackout curtains. Respect each other's needs for rest.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if one partner keeps forgetting or avoiding their assigned chores?

Check if the task is too big or unclear. Break it down into steps, and use reminders. Discuss openly without blame and adjust as needed.

2. What if routines fall apart during busy times?

Life happens. Prioritize essential tasks, and let go of perfection. Use visual supports to get back on track.

### 3. What if reminders cause tension?

Agree on language and timing in advance. For example, "Is now a good time for a reminder?" or "Would you like me to text you later?"

# 4. What if we have very different standards of "organized"?

Define together what "good enough" looks like. Compromise where possible, and respect each other's comfort zones.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Executive function differences are common and not a character flaw.
- Fixed routines and divided responsibilities reduce stress and conflict.
- Visual supports and gentle reminders build success.
- Adapting sleep and wake routines can improve well-being for both partners.

# **Practice Scripts**

# If you're either partner, try:

"Let's make a list of chores and decide who will do each one regularly."

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Would it help if we tackled paperwork together, step by step?"
- b. "Are there tools you'd like to use to make this easier?"
- c. "How about if I text you a reminder, to help you remember what time we're supposed to meet?"

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I sometimes need help with reading or filling out forms. Could you assist or break it down for me?"
- b. "Reminders work best for me if they're gentle, not urgent."
- c. "I'm having trouble with this routine. Can we talk about what might help?"

# **Closing Thoughts**

Daily life can feel overwhelming when brains work differently, but small changes make a big difference. By building supportive systems and honoring each other's needs, you create a partnership where everyone can thrive.

# Chapter 8: Navigating Social Life and Family

"True belonging doesn't require us to change who we are; it requires us to be who we are." ~ Brené Brown

Social life, whether it's parties, family gatherings, or meeting new people, can be a joyful part of relationships, but it also brings unique challenges for neurodivergent and neurotypical couples. Differences in social energy, comfort with crowds, and family expectations can lead to stress or misunderstanding. This chapter will help you navigate social events, advocate for each other, and find a balance that honors both partners' needs.

# Case Study 1: Priya and Max

Priya loved Sunday dinners with her big, lively family. Max, who is autistic, found these gatherings overwhelming: the noise, the small talk, and the pressure to interact left him exhausted and anxious for days. At first, Priya felt torn. She didn't want to give up family time, but she also didn't want Max to suffer. After an honest conversation, they came up with a plan: Max would join for the first hour, take breaks in a quiet room when needed, and Priya would handle most of the conversation with relatives. When Max needed to leave early, Priya would explain to her family and support him. This new approach allowed both to feel included and respected.

# Case Study 2: Chris and Leo

Chris, a neurotypical man, loves partying and clubbing, but his partner, Leo has ADHD and social anxiety. Leo often feels drained after being in loud, crowded places, but doesn't want to let Chris down. After having an honest talk, they agreed on a maximum event duration (2 hours), and created a signal (a "time-out" gesture) for when Leo needs a break. They also now balance evenings out-on-the-town with quiet nights at home.

# **Research Insights**

Social differences are common in neurodiverse relationships. Neurodivergent partners may experience social fatigue, sensory overload, or anxiety in group settings (Müller et al., 2008). Neurotypical partners may value connection through gatherings and worry about seeming rude or distant.

Studies show that planning ahead, having clear roles, and agreeing on signals or exits can reduce stress and make social experiences more positive (Aston, 2014).

Advocating for each other—explaining needs, setting boundaries, and supporting breaks—helps couples feel united and less isolated. Open communication about social preferences also strengthens trust and intimacy.

**Table: Social Needs and Strategies** 

Social Situation	Partner's Needs	Strategies
Large events	ND: Quiet breaks, sensory support NT: Connection, participation	Plan breaks, set time limits
Family gatherings	ND: Predictability, clear roles NT: Inclusion, shared experience	Agree on arrival/departure times
Meeting new	ND: Advance info, partner support	Prep together, use code
people	NT: Comfortable with mingling	words
Holidays/traditions	ND: Routine, downtime	Balance events with
	NT: Celebration, togetherness	downtime

# **Socializing Strategies**

- 1. Talk before social events about each partner's needs and limits.
- 2. Make a plan for breaks, quiet spaces, or early exits if needed.
- 3. Use signals or code words to communicate discreetly at gatherings.
- 4. Divide social "roles"—one partner may lead conversation, the other can take supportive or background roles.
- 5. Advocate for each other by explaining boundaries or needs to friends and family when necessary.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. List three types of social situations that drain you and three that energize you.
- 2. Reflect on what makes these situations easier or harder.
- 3. Identify one boundary or support you wish you could have in social settings.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Each partner shares their favorite and least favorite social activity.
- 2. Discuss: What makes those experiences better or worse?
- 3. Make a "social menu" of events you both enjoy, those you'll compromise on, and those you might skip or limit.

# **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. When do I feel most myself in social situations?
- 2. How do I react when my partner wants something different from me socially?
- 3. What helps me recover after a challenging social event?

# **Worksheet: Social Support Plan**

1. Upcoming social event:

\_\_\_\_\_

3. NT partner's needs (connection, participation):  4. Agreed plan (arrival/departure, roles, signals):  5. How we'll debrief or recover after:  FAQs	2. ND partner's needs (breaks, quiet, support):	
5. How we'll debrief or recover after:  FAQs		
FAQs	4. Agreed plan (arrival/departure, roles, signals):	
	5. How we'll debrief or recover after:	
1 O: How can we avoid arguments about social events?	FAQs  1. Q: How can we avoid arguments about social events?	

A: Plan ahead, talk honestly about limits, and respect each other's needs.

Compromise where possible, and check in after events.

2. Q: What if family or friends don't understand our choices?

A: Advocate for each other. Explain simply ("Crowds are hard for us, so we might step out for a break") and set boundaries as needed.

3. Q: Is it okay for one partner to skip events?

A: Yes. Each couple can decide what works best. Sometimes splitting up for events is the healthiest option.

4. Q: How do we handle invitations to multiple events in a short time?

A: Prioritize. Choose the most important, and consider declining or shortening attendance at others.

5. Q: What about making and keeping friendships?

A: Focus on a few close connections if that feels best. Nurture friendships in ways that suit your unique needs and energy.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if my partner feels left out or overwhelmed?

Check in often during events. Offer breaks or exits if needed. Reassure your partner that their comfort matters.

2. What if I feel embarrassed advocating for our needs?

Remember, you're modeling self-respect and healthy boundaries. Simple explanations are usually enough; you don't owe anyone a full story.

3. What if we argue about family expectations?

Discuss your feelings in private first, then present a united front. Agree on what you'll say to relatives and support each other.

4. What if social stress lingers after an event?

Build in downtime and self-care afterward. Debrief together—what worked, what didn't, and what you'd change next time.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Social life brings unique challenges and opportunities in neurodivergent/neurotypical relationships.
- Planning, clear roles, and communication reduce stress at gatherings.
- · Advocating for each other builds trust and unity.
- It's okay to set boundaries and choose what works best for your partnership.

# **Practice Scripts**

If you're either partner, try saying this to your party host: "We may need to leave early. Thanks for understanding. It helps us enjoy being here together."

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Are you up for attending this event, or would you prefer a quiet night?"
- b. "Let's use our signal if you need to step out. I want you to be comfortable."
- c. "We agreed I'd handle most of the conversation. Is that still okay?"

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I love being with you, but I need breaks during social events. Can we plan for that?"
- b. "If I get overwhelmed, I might step outside for a bit. It's not about you."
- c. "I need a break from the noise. Can we step outside for a few minutes?"

# **Closing Thoughts**

Navigating social life and family is a journey of mutual respect and advocacy. By honoring each other's needs and supporting one another, you create space to belong—together and as yourselves.

# **Chapter 9: Handling Conflict**

"Peace is not the absence of conflict, but the ability to cope with it." ~ Mahatma Gandhi

All couples experience disagreements, but when partners have different neurotypes, misunderstandings can arise more frequently and escalate quickly. The good news is that conflict does not have to damage your relationship—when handled with care, it can actually deepen understanding and trust. This chapter will help you recognize your unique conflict patterns and give you practical tools for de-escalation and repair.

# Case Study 1: Casey and Julia

Casey, who is neurotypical, likes to talk through problems right away. Julia, who is autistic, often needs time alone to cool down and process. When a disagreement started, Casey would keep asking questions, hoping to resolve things quickly. Julia would shut down or leave the room, which made Casey feel abandoned. After learning about their different needs, they agreed on a new plan: Julia could take a fifteen-minute break when overwhelmed, and Casey would write down his thoughts instead of insisting on immediate conversation. With this pause-and-return strategy, their arguments became shorter, less painful, and easier to resolve. This practice reduced escalation and helped them reconnect.

## **Research Insights**

Neurodivergent/neurotypical couples often have distinct conflict patterns.

Neurodivergent partners may become overwhelmed more quickly, go silent, or "shut down" (Aston, 2009). Neurotypical partners may push for conversation or resolution, which can increase tension. Research shows that recognizing these patterns and planning for breaks greatly reduces escalation (Hirvikoski et al., 2015).

De-escalation tools give both partners time to process and regulate emotions: Pause and return or time-outs, written communication, or safe words are all helpful. Also, repairing after conflict is just as important: apologizing, clarifying misunderstandings, and reassuring each other strengthens the relationship (Gottman, 2019). Practice, patience, and nonjudgmental curiosity are essential for growth.

**Table: Common Conflict Patterns and Repair Tools** 

Pattern	What It Looks Like	De-escalation/Repair
Demand-Withdrawal	One pursues, one withdraws	Planned breaks, written notes
Misreading Tone or Intent	Words/silence taken personally	Clarifying questions, "What did you mean?"
Sensory/Emotional Overload	Meltdown, shutdown,	Quiet time, grounding exercises
Repeating Old Arguments	Going in circles, unresolved feelings	New scripts, focus on present, not past

# **Conflict Strategies**

- 1. Identify and name your most common conflict patterns together.
- 2. Agree on signals, safe words, or gestures to pause a heated discussion.
- 3. Use time-outs. Take a break, then return when both feel calmer.
- 4. Write down thoughts or feelings if talking is too hard in the moment.
- 5. After conflict, take time to repair: apologize, clarify, and reassure.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. Think of a recent argument or misunderstanding.
- 2. What was your first reaction—did you want to talk, leave, or freeze?
- 3. Reflect on what would help you feel safe and heard during conflict.

# **Pair Activity**

- 1. Share with your partner one thing that helps you calm down when upset.
- 2. Decide on a signal or phrase to use when either of you needs a break.
- 3. After your next disagreement, try using your new conflict tools and debrief together.

# **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. How do I usually react to conflict: fight, flight, freeze, or fawn?
- 2. What helps me feel calm again after an argument?
- 3. How do I know when a misunderstanding has been truly repaired?

#### **Worksheet: Our Conflict Plan**

1. Our most common conflict pattern is:

2.	Our agreed signal or safe word for breaks is:
3.	Tools we will use to de-escalate:
4.	How we will repair after conflict:

#### **FAQs**

1. Q: Is conflict a sign of a bad relationship?

A: Not at all. Conflict is normal. What matters is how you handle and repair it.

2. Q: What if one partner avoids conflict and the other seeks it out?

A: Respect both needs. Take breaks when needed, but agree to return and resolve when ready.

3. Q: How do we prevent the same fights from happening over and over?

A: Notice patterns, try new scripts, and focus on understanding rather than "winning."

4. Q: What if emotions get too big to handle?

A: Pause, use grounding techniques, and seek support if needed. Safety and calm come first.

5. Q: Can we learn to "fight fair" even with big differences?

A: Yes. Practice, patience, and clear agreements help you grow together.

# **Troubleshooting**

1. What if breaks feel like abandonment?

Clarify that breaks are for calming down, not leaving the relationship. Set a time to reconnect and check in.

2. What if one partner refuses to repair after conflict?

Discuss this outside of arguments. Explain why repair matters and agree on simple steps—like a text, note, or quick conversation.

3. What if apologies feel empty?

Be specific: say what you're sorry for, and what you'll try next time. Acknowledge feelings, not just actions.

4. What if conflict leads to shutdowns or meltdowns?
Learn your warning signs. Practice early pausing, and create a safe, quiet space to recover.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Conflict is normal; how you handle it makes all the difference.
- Recognize your patterns and plan de-escalation steps in advance.
- Breaks, signals, and written communication can help prevent escalation.
- Repairing after conflict builds trust and closeness.

#### **Practice Scripts**

## If you're either partner, try:

- a. "I want to understand what you meant. Can you say it a different way?"
- b. "I care about you. Let's work together to solve this."

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "I notice you're getting overwhelmed. Let's take a short break and come back to this."
- b. "Would you prefer to write about what's bothering you before we talk?"

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I need a few minutes to process before we continue. Can we talk again in half an hour?"
- b. "When I'm quiet, I'm not ignoring you. I'm just thinking things through."

# **Closing Thoughts**

Conflict is an opportunity to learn about yourselves and each other. With compassion, clear tools, and a commitment to repair, you can turn misunderstandings into deeper understanding—and a stronger, more connected partnership.

# Chapter 10: Crisis Management & Safety Planning

"An ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure."~ Benjamin Franklin

Life is unpredictable, and even the healthiest relationships experience moments of crisis. For neurotypical/neurodivergent couples, the unique stressors of daily life can sometimes build up to a breaking point. These include sensory overload, executive dysfunction, misunderstandings, and external pressures. Whether you're facing meltdowns, shutdowns, mental health emergencies, or relationship safety concerns, having a plan in place can make all the difference. This chapter will help you recognize warning signs, respond with compassion, and create practical safety plans for yourself and your partner. It's important to remember: Crisis is not a sign of failure. It can be a signal that needs aren't being met, that stress is too high, or that support is needed.

# Case Study 1: Sky & Robyn

Sky (an autistic trans woman) and Robyn (a neurotypical cis man) had been together for three years when Sky lost her job at the club. The stress led to sensory overload, frequent shutdowns, and eventually a full-blown autistic burnout. Robyn, unsure how to help, sometimes pushed Sky to just get over it, which only made things worse. After an especially difficult night, they sat down together and wrote a safety plan: Robyn would give Sky space during shutdowns, help with meals, and check in gently. Sky agreed to text Robyn if she felt unsafe or overwhelmed, and they posted crisis hotline numbers by the door. With this plan, both felt more secure and connected through tough times.

# Case Study 2: Tina and Jasper

Tina, a neurotypical Latina woman, and Jasper, her autistic, non-speaking husband who uses AAC (augmentative and alternative communication), live in a wildfire-prone area. When a fast-moving wildfire forces their neighborhood to evacuate, Tina quickly packs essentials, but Jasper becomes overloaded by the noise, urgency, and disruption of routine. He begins to stim intensely, refusing to leave his room. Remembering their safety plan, Tina uses Jasper's communication app to explain what's happening, packs his sensory kit and comfort items, and allows extra time for transitions. They drive to a friend's house outside the evacuation zone, where Tina sets up a quiet corner for Jasper. Despite the chaos, their planning and communication help them stay safe and connected.

# **Research Insights**

Crisis management within neurotypical/neurodivergent relationships is a complex topic that intersects with mental health, trauma, sensory processing, and relationship dynamics. Neurodivergent individuals, including autistic people and those with ADHD, may be particularly vulnerable to overwhelming stress, emotional dysregulation, and increased risk of mental health crises due to heightened sensory sensitivities, communication challenges, and social isolation (Hirvikoski et al., 2016; Kinnaird, Stewart, & Tchanturia, 2019). Studies have shown that autistic adults are at increased risk for self-injurious behavior and suicidality, especially when faced with unaccommodated environments or chronic misunderstandings in relationships (Cassidy et al., 2014; Hedley et al., 2018).

Meltdowns and shutdowns, terms often used in autistic communities, are not simply bad moods or tantrums, but are neurological responses to overwhelming stress or sensory input. These responses can be misunderstood by neurotypical partners, sometimes

leading to escalation or secondary trauma (Milton, 2012). Proactive planning, including the development of personalized safety plans, has been found effective for reducing harm and improving recovery after such episodes (Raymaker et al., 2020).

Domestic violence and abuse are additional concerns. Research suggests that neurodivergent individuals (especially autistic women and nonbinary people) may be disproportionately at risk for intimate partner violence and may encounter barriers to accessing trauma-informed, neurodiversity-affirming support (Mandy et al., 2018; Weiss & Fardella, 2018). Studies recommend that safety planning for neurodiverse couples should include attention to sensory needs, communication preferences, and accessible escape routes or support contacts (Roberts et al., 2015).

Overall, the literature emphasizes that crisis prevention and intervention work best when both partners understand early warning signs, respect sensory and communication differences, and have concrete, collaboratively developed safety plans. Access to neurodiversity-informed professionals and community resources can further reduce risk and foster resilience (Raymaker et al., 2020).

**Table: Recognizing Warning Signs** 

Type of Crisis	Early Warning Signs	Escalating Signs
Meltdown	Irritability, pacing, stimming, agitation	Yelling, crying, hitting objects, running away
Shutdown	Silence, blank stare, withdrawal	Unresponsiveness, loss of speech, catatonia
Mental Health Emergency	Hopelessness, withdrawal, changes in sleep	Suicidal talk, self-harm, panic, risk-taking
Abuse/Violence	Jealousy, control, criticism, threats	Physical harm, isolation, fear for safety

## **Crisis Prevention Strategies**

Crisis prevention is a proactive process, one that encourages couples to anticipate challenges, recognize early signs of distress, and build a toolkit for staying connected and regulated. The more you prepare together, the easier it becomes to navigate difficulties before they escalate.

# 1. Know Your Triggers

Understanding what leads to overwhelm is the foundation of crisis prevention. Triggers can be sensory (such as loud noises, bright lights, or certain textures), emotional (like criticism, rejection, or reminders of past trauma), or environmental (such as crowds, changes in routine, or sudden demands).

#### Solo reflection:

Each partner should take time to identify their unique triggers and consider how these show up in daily life.

#### Pair discussion:

Share your triggers with your partner in a calm moment. Discuss how these triggers feel, and what early warning signs might look like (irritability, withdrawal, restlessness, etc.).

**Example:** "I notice I get anxious and irritable in noisy restaurants," or "When plans change suddenly, I feel my heart race and I need quiet."

### 2. Identify Safe Spaces

Everyone needs a place to feel safe and grounded, especially during moments of stress or overload.

- At home: Designate a specific room or corner where a partner can retreat without interruption—this could be a bedroom, a cozy chair, or even a bathroom.
- Out and about: Identify quiet zones in public places (library, car, park bench), or agree on where you can go together if one of you feels overwhelmed.
- With others: Have backup plans, such as going to a trusted friend's house or calling someone for support.

**Tip:** Make your safe space inviting with favorite objects, sensory tools, or calming music.

#### 3. Use Clear Signals

Direct, simple communication is essential in preventing crises. Not everyone is able to verbalize distress in the moment, so it helps to establish signals in advance.

**Create a code word or phrase:** For example, "red light," "timeout," or "I need a break." This lets your partner know it's time to pause or back off, no questions asked.

**Nonverbal signals:** A hand gesture, tapping an object, or sending a specific emoji or text can serve as a distress call.

 Practice using these signals in non-stressful situations so both partners know what to expect and how to respond.  Respect the signal: When it's used, honor it immediately and check in later when both are calm.

# 4. Practice Self-Regulation

Self-regulation means using strategies to return to a calmer, more balanced state when stress begins to rise.

- Breathing techniques: Deep belly breathing, box breathing, or gentle sighs can slow down your nervous system.
- Grounding exercises: Focus on your senses, such as: Notice five things you see, four you can touch, three you hear, etc.
- Stimming: Repetitive movements or sounds (rocking, hand-flapping, humming)
   can help neurodivergent partners self-soothe.
- Mindfulness tools: Apps, guided meditations, or calming music can offer quick relief.
- Practice regularly: Incorporate these techniques into daily life, not just during crises, to build resilience and familiarity.

#### 5. Check in Regularly

Crisis prevention is easier when you don't wait for trouble to surface.

- Routine check-ins: Make it a habit to ask each other about stress levels, energy, and mood, perhaps daily or at regular intervals.
- Use scales: Sometimes it's easier to rate your stress from 1–10 than to describe it in words.

- Normalize asking for help: Encourage a culture of openness where it's safe to say, "I'm not okay," without fear of judgment.
- Update plans: If you notice patterns or new triggers, adapt your safety strategies together.

# 6. Make a Non-Violence Agreement (see following page)

#### Remember:

Prevention is a shared process. It's a way of caring for yourselves and each other before things get overwhelming. The more you learn, practice, and communicate, the stronger your crisis prevention toolkit becomes.

# **Our Commitment to Safety and Respect**

We, the undersigned, commit to maintaining a safe, respectful, and non-violent relationship. We agree to the following principles:

**Physical Non-Violence**: We will not use physical force or threats against each other under any circumstance.

**Emotional Respect:** We will avoid insults, intimidation, humiliation, or coercive control. Consent and Boundaries: We will respect each other's boundaries in all physical, emotional, sexual, and financial matters.

**Seeking Help:** If either of us feels at risk of causing or experiencing harm, we agree to seek immediate help (from support people, helplines, or authorities).

**Accountability:** If violence or abuse occurs, we acknowledge the right for the harmed partner to seek support, safety, and legal protection.

We sign this agreement freely and with the intention to honor and uphold it.

Partner 1:	Date	ə:
Partner 2:	Dot	· ·
raillei Z.	Date	۶
Witness: _	Date	ə:

(Optional: Notary or professional witness signature for legal weight.)

# **Important:**

This document is a statement of intent and mutual respect. In case of violence or threat, always prioritize immediate safety and contact authorities or a domestic violence service.

# **Crisis Strategies**

# **Responding to Meltdowns**

- 1. Remove or reduce triggers (lights, noise, people).
- 2. Offer space and do not touch unless invited.
- 3. Provide comfort objects (weighted blanket, fidget).
- Avoid arguing or reasoning in the moment.
- 5. Use calm, simple words: "You're safe. I'm here."

### **Responding to Shutdowns:**

- 1. Allow silence and time to recover.
- 2. Offer water, soft food, or a favorite item.
- 3. Avoid pressure to "talk it out" immediately.
- 4. Sit quietly nearby if welcome; respect need for solitude.

#### Mental Health Crises: What to Do

- Recognize the signs: Expressions of hopelessness, talk of self-harm, drastic mood changes.
- 2. Ask directly: "Are you thinking about hurting yourself?" (Research shows this does not cause harm and can help.)
- Remove means: If possible, remove access to things that could be used for selfharm.
- Contact help: Call a crisis line, therapist, or emergency services if safety is at risk.
- Stay with the person: Don't leave someone alone if you're concerned for their safety.

**Crisis Lines & Emergency Numbers:** 

National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (US): Tel: 988 (https://988lifeline.org)

Samaritans (UK): Tel: 116 123 (https://www.samaritans.org)

Lifeline (Australia): Tel: 13 11 14 (https://www.lifeline.org.au)

**Tip:** Find out the Crisis Line and Emergency Numbers for your area. Put them in an

easily accessible place, like on the refrigerator.

**Abuse & Domestic Violence** 

Abuse can happen in any relationship. However, neurodivergent people can be more

vulnerable due to communication differences, dependency, or misunderstanding of

boundaries. If you feel afraid or controlled, or if your partner hurts you emotionally or

physically, you deserve support and safety.

**Hotlines:** 

National Domestic Violence Hotline (US): 1-800-799-7233 (https://www.thehotline.org)

Refuge (UK): 0808 2000 247 (https://www.nationaldahelpline.org.uk)

1800RESPECT (Australia): 1800 737 732 (https://www.1800respect.org.au)

**Tip:** Find out the hotline for your area and keep it in a safe, secret place.

**Safety Plan:** 

1. Identify a safe place you can go (friend, shelter).

2. Keep important documents, medications, and a small amount of cash ready.

3. Have a code word or signal for friends/family to alert them if you're in danger.

4. Memorize or save emergency numbers.

104

Creating a Personalized Safety Plan
1. List Triggers and Early Signs
Examples: Loud noise, conflict, work stress, certain dates.
2. Identify Coping Tools
Weighted blanket, music, stimming, walks, calming apps.
3. Safe Spaces
Bedroom, park, friend's home, bathroom with lock.
4. Support People
List trusted friends, family, therapist, support groups.
5. Emergency Steps
Who to call, where to go, what to say. Learn code words and signals to if you need to
give them to bystanders in a public place.
6. Post Crisis Plan
Rest, hydration, gentle activities, check-ins, follow-up therapy.
Worksheet: Our Crisis Plan
1. My/our triggers:
2. Early warning signs:
3. Coping strategies/tools:
4. Safe spaces:

5.	Support contacts:
6.	What to do in an emergency:
7.	How to reconnect after a crisis:

# **Practice Scripts**

# If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- 1. "I notice you're getting overwhelmed. Would you like some space or something comforting?"
- 2. "If you're in crisis, I'm here and we can call for help together."
- 3. "It's okay if you need to step away. I'll check on you in a little while."

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- 1. "I'm starting to shut down. I need quiet and no conversation for a bit."
- 2. "If I seem distressed, please help me by describe preferred strategy."
- 3. "I need help right now. Can you call friend/helpline/therapist with me?"

#### **FAQs**

Q: What if my partner won't accept help in a crisis?

A: Respect their autonomy, but if they are in danger, prioritize safety. Contact trusted support or emergency services if needed.

Q: What if I'm the one in crisis?

A: You deserve support. Reach out to someone you trust, a helpline, or a professional—even if it's hard.

Q: Can planning really prevent crises?

A: While not all crises can be prevented, planning reduces risk, increases confidence, and helps both partners feel prepared.

Q: What if we disagree about what's a crisis?

A: Discuss your definitions and needs ahead of time. Respect each other's thresholds for stress and safety.

# **Troubleshooting**

**If plans don't work:** Review and update them regularly. What helps one time may change as needs evolve.

If you feel alone: Seek community support. A crisis doesn't have to be faced solo.

**If a crisis leads to shame or guilt:** Be gentle with yourself and each other; recovery is part of the journey.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Crises are a normal part of life—planning and compassion make a difference.
- Know the warning signs, and respect each partner's needs and boundaries.
- Use tools, safe spaces, and professional resources as needed.
- Recovery, safety, and reconnection are possible.

# **Closing Thoughts**

Crisis doesn't define your relationship; how you respond, support, and recover together does. With preparation, understanding, and a willingness to reach out, you and your partner can weather even the hardest storms and find your way back to safety and care.

# Chapter 11: Supporting Each Other's Mental Health

"Taking care of yourself doesn't mean me first, it means me too." ~ L.R. Knost

Mental health is a foundation for every strong relationship. Neurodivergent and neurotypical partners may manage stress, overwhelm, and self-care in different ways. Supporting one another's well-being means learning to recognize signs of overload or burnout, practicing self-care individually and together, and knowing when and how to seek help. This chapter offers practical ways to care for yourselves and each other.

# Case Study 1: Chris and Janelle

Chris, who is neurotypical, noticed Janelle becoming withdrawn and irritable. Janelle, who is autistic, was experiencing burnout after a busy month of work deadlines and family events. She found it hard to ask for help and didn't always notice the early signs of overwhelm. Chris learned to spot these signs (like Janelle needing more alone time or getting stuck in routines) and gently suggested breaks or quiet evenings. Together, they created a recharge plan with scheduled downtime, favorite activities, and reminders to check in about stress. When things felt too heavy, they agreed to reach out for professional help. Their partnership grew stronger through mutual care and understanding.

#### Case Study 2: Priya and Sam

Priya, a late-diagnosed autistic woman, and Sam, her neurotypical spouse, both struggle with anxiety. Priya sometimes misses signs of her own overload; Sam is hyperaware of mood changes. They develop a wellness chart to track stress levels and agree on regular mental health check-ins. They support each other through tough times with shared walks, breathing exercises, and outside counseling when needed.

## **Research Insights**

Neurodivergent people may be more vulnerable to stress, anxiety, depression, and burnout, especially if their needs are not recognized or supported (Botha & Frost, 2020). Burnout can show up as exhaustion, irritability, loss of interest in activities, or withdrawing from social contact. Neurotypical partners may also face stress, from caregiving, advocacy, or navigating misunderstandings, and can benefit from support and self-care.

Research highlights the importance of co-regulation: the process of calming and supporting each other through stressful times (Sander et al., 2021). This can look like listening, sharing quiet time, or offering practical help. Healthy relationships also encourage self-care: activities that restore energy and emotional balance. Sometimes, professional help, such as counseling, peer support, or medical care, is needed. Know that seeking support is a sign of strength, not weakness.

**Table: Signs of Stress, Overload, and Burnout** 

Signs	ND/NT Signs	Helpful Response
Stress	ND: Shutdown, irritability, stimming, withdrawal NT: Snapping, worry, over-planning	Offer space, check in, listen
Overload	ND: Sensory sensitivity, meltdown,	Reduce demands, quiet
	forgetfulness	activities
	NT: Insomnia, tension, overworking	
Burnout	ND: Numbness, loss of joy, difficulty	Encourage breaks, seek
	functioning	support
	NT: Fatigue, hopelessness, withdrawal	

### **Stress Relief Strategies**

- 1. Learn each other's early signs of stress, overload, and burnout.
- 2. Practice co-regulation: calm each other with quiet time, deep breathing, or gentle conversation.
- 3. Encourage self-care routines for both partners. This may include rest, hobbies, exercise, or time alone.
- 4. Talk openly about when to seek outside help, and make a plan for reaching out if needed.
- 5. Validate each other's feelings and needs without judgment.

#### **Solo Exercise**

- 1. List three activities or practices that help you feel calm and recharged.
- 2. Write down the signs that show you are getting stressed or burned out.
- 3. What is one thing you can do (or ask for) when you notice these signs?

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Share with your partner the ways you recognize stress or overload in yourself.
- 2. Ask your partner how you can best support them during tough times.
- 3. Together, create a "recharge plan" for the next stressful week or month.

### Mindfulness Log

- 1. How do I feel about asking for help when I am struggling?
- 2. What helps me recover from periods of stress or burnout?
- 3. How do I respond when I notice my partner is not okay?

1.	Early signs of stress or overload for me:	
2.	Early signs of stress or overload for my partner:	
3.	Self-care activities we each find helpful:	
4.	Ways we can co-regulate or support each other:	
5.	When and how we will seek professional help:	
F	AQs	
	Q: How do I know if my partner (or I) am just tired or actual A: Burnout lasts longer than normal tiredness and affects dated book for patterns and intensity over time.	
	Q: Is it okay to need time alone when stressed?  A: Absolutely. Downtime is a healthy form of self-care for meaurodivergent partners.	any people, especially

**Worksheet: Our Mental Health Care Plan** 

3. Q: What if I feel guilty needing support?

of a healthy partnership.

111

A: Everyone needs support sometimes. Remember, giving and receiving care is part

4. Q: How do we talk about mental health without shame?

A: Use open, nonjudgmental language. Focus on what you feel and what you need, not blame or stigma.

5. Q: When should we seek professional help?

A: If stress or burnout is affecting daily life, relationships, or health, or if either partner feels hopeless, it's time to reach out.

## **Troubleshooting**

1. What if my partner rejects help or insists they are fine?

Respect their autonomy, but gently express your care and concern. Offer specific support and encourage professional help if problems persist.

2. What if we have different self-care needs?

Agree that each partner can have their own routines. Balance shared time with solo recharge activities.

3. What if stress causes more conflict?

Pause and recognize that stress is the real culprit. Take breaks, use grounding tools, and return to the issue when calm.

4. What if neither of us knows what helps?

Experiment with small changes, try new activities together, and be patient as you discover what works.

### **Chapter Highlights**

• Mental health is central to healthy relationships—self-care and co-regulation help both partners thrive.

- Recognizing signs of stress, overload, and burnout enables early support and intervention.
- Open communication, validation, and practical planning build resilience.
- Seeking help is a sign of strength, not failure.

### **Practice Scripts**

## If you're either partner, try:

"Let's talk about how we can get extra support if things feel too heavy."

### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "How are you feeling today on our wellness chart? Anything you need from me?"
- b. "Would you like to do something relaxing together or take some alone time?"
- c. "I see you're having a tough week. What can I do to help or support you right now?"

### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "If I seem distant or overloaded, a gentle check-in helps me recognize what I need."
- b. "I'm having a hard day. Could we talk about what would help, or maybe just sit together quietly?"
- c. "I'm noticing I'm feeling overwhelmed and could use some quiet time. Can we plan something restful together?"

## **Closing Thoughts**

Supporting each other's mental health is an ongoing act of love, respect, and courage. By tuning in, caring deeply, and reaching out when needed, you make your relationship a place of true safety and renewal.

# Chapter 12: Intimacy and Affection

"Love is not a matter of what happens in life. It's a matter of what's happening in your heart." ~ Ken Keyes Jr.

Intimacy and affection are essential parts of most romantic relationships, but what feels loving or comfortable can be very different from partner to partner.

Neurodivergent/neurotypical couples may have unique patterns in how they express and receive love, as well as specific needs and boundaries around touch, closeness, and physical intimacy. Understanding and honoring these differences strengthens connection and helps both partners feel valued and safe.

## Story 1: Dana and Leo

Dana loved to cuddle on the couch and hold hands in public. Leo, who is autistic and has sensory sensitivities, sometimes enjoyed those things but often felt overwhelmed by touch after a long day. When Dana reached for his hand and he pulled away, she felt rejected and worried that Leo didn't love her. After an open conversation, Leo explained how certain kinds of touch or timing could feel too intense, especially when tired. They agreed to check in before hugging or holding hands and found new ways, like sending loving texts or making tea for each other, to express affection. Their intimacy grew deeper as they learned to communicate and respect each other's needs.

### Case Study 2: Max and Serena

Max, a neurotypical man, and Serena, a woman with Sensory Processing Disorder, are newlyweds. Serena finds certain fabrics and touches uncomfortable, while Max loves cuddling. They talk openly about boundaries and experiment with weighted blankets, scented candles, and new forms of non-physical intimacy like reading together. Their creativity helps them stay close, even when touch isn't always an option.

### Research Insights

Intimacy is about more than physical closeness; it's about feeling emotionally connected, safe, and understood. Neurodivergent people may experience sensory sensitivities, differences in sexual interest, or unique ways of showing affection (Munday, 2019). For some, certain kinds of touch (like hugs or kisses) may be comforting, while for others they may be overstimulating or even painful. Neurotypical partners may interpret avoidance of touch as rejection, when in reality it may be a sensory need.

Research shows that couples who talk openly about their preferences, boundaries, and love languages experience greater satisfaction and less misunderstanding (Chapman, 2015; Byers et al., 2013). Flexibility, curiosity, and creativity help partners find ways to be close that feel good for both.

**Table: Affection Preferences and Boundaries** 

Intimacy Area	Needs/Preferences	Strategies
Physical affection	ND: Predictable, gentle, or limited touch	Ask first, use signals
	NT: Spontaneous or frequent touch	
Verbal affection	ND: Direct words, written notes, texts	Share what feels meaningful
	NT: Verbal affirmations, sweet talk	
Sexual intimacy	ND: Routine, sensory- friendly, clear consent	Discuss needs, check boundaries
	NT: Variety, emotional closeness	
Non-physical intimacy	ND: Acts of service, shared interests	Celebrate all forms of connection
	NT: Shared activities, eye contact	

## **Intimacy Strategies**

- 1. Discuss both partners' preferred ways of giving and receiving affection.
- 2. Always ask for consent, and use clear language to ask for or decline touch: "May I hug you?" or "Not right now, please."
- 3. Create rituals or signals for initiating or stopping physical contact.
- 4. Explore and respect each other's sensory needs and boundaries. Be open to change.
- 5. Celebrate non-physical forms of intimacy, such as acts of service, shared hobbies, or loving messages.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. List three ways you most enjoy giving affection.
- 2. List three ways you most enjoy receiving affection.
- 3. Note any physical or sensory boundaries that are important to you.

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Share with your partner one thing that makes you feel loved (physical or not).
- 2. Each partner names a "green light" and a "red light" for physical intimacy (what feels good, what does not).
- 3. Brainstorm together two new ways to connect that honor both partners' comfort zones.

## **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. When do I feel most connected and loved in my relationship?
- 2. How do I react if my partner's style of showing affection is different?
- 3. What helps me feel safe to express my needs and boundaries?

## **Worksheet: Our Intimacy Map**

1.	. My favorite way to give affection:
2.	. My favorite way to receive affection:
3.	. One physical boundary I need to feel comfortable:

4.	One non-physical way I'd like to connect more:	

5. A ritual or signal we can use for checking in about intimacy:

#### **FAQs**

1. Q: How can we avoid misunderstandings about physical touch?

A: Talk openly and set clear signals or agreements. Remember, boundaries can change day to day.

2. Q: What if our sexual needs are different?

A: Discuss your preferences, explore compromises, and consider non-sexual forms of intimacy. Sometimes, outside support (like therapy) helps.

3. Q: Is it "unloving" to say no to hugs or touch?

A: Not at all. Saying no is about honoring your needs, not rejecting your partner. Find other ways to show you care.

4. Q: How do we keep intimacy alive if we have mismatched needs?

A: Try new approaches, focus on emotional closeness, and celebrate small moments of connection.

5. Q: Can we change our preferences over time?

A: Yes. Needs and boundaries can shift. Keep communicating and be open to evolving together.

### **Troubleshooting**

What if I feel rejected when my partner says no to touch?
 Remember, it's not personal. Ask how your partner feels loved in other ways, and express your needs gently.

2. What if I don't know my own boundaries?

Take time to explore. Notice when you feel at ease or tense, and share discoveries with your partner.

- 3. What if one partner pushes for more intimacy than the other wants?

  Set firm boundaries, respect "no," and seek support if needed. Consent and comfort are key for both.
- 4. What if we get stuck in a rut or routine?

Talk about trying new forms of connection—different activities, new rituals, or even playful experiments.

## **Chapter Highlights**

- Intimacy and affection look different for every couple, especially across neurotypes.
- Open communication about needs, preferences, and boundaries is essential.
- Both physical and non-physical forms of love matter equally.
- Respect, curiosity, and creativity help you build a satisfying and safe connection.

#### **Practice Scripts**

#### If you're either partner, try:

- a. "I love you, and I want to make sure you feel comfortable and cared for."
- b. "Can we talk about what feels good and what doesn't when we're close?"

### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Would you like to cuddle, or is there another way I can show affection?"
- b. "Let's find ways to be close that feel good for you."

## If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "Some types of touch are hard for me. Here's what I do enjoy."
- b. "If I pull away, it's about my sensory needs, not about you."

## **Closing Thoughts**

True intimacy is built on understanding and respect for one another's needs, boundaries, and ways of loving. By honoring both your similarities and your differences, you create a relationship where both partners can feel fully cherished.

# Chapter 13: Wins and Resilience

"Success is not the absence of failure; it's the persistence through failure." ~ Aisha Tyler

A strong relationship is not built on perfection, but on progress, persistence, and the ability to celebrate each step forward. Neurodivergent/neurotypical couples often face unique challenges, but these challenges can also forge unique strengths. Recognizing your growth, honoring your strengths, and celebrating small wins together are the building blocks of resilience—a quality that helps your partnership thrive through ups and downs.

### Case Study 1: Elena and Devon

Elena and Devon used to focus on what wasn't working in their relationship: missed appointments, communication hiccups, or arguments about routines. Over time, they realized that dwelling on problems made them feel stuck. So they started a new tradition: every Friday, they each named one thing they were proud of that week, whether it was handling a tough conversation, trying a new strategy, or just remembering to check in with each other. Celebrating these wins helped them see how far they'd come, even when progress was slow. Their resilience grew as they learned to measure success by effort and growth, not by being perfect.

## Case Study 2: Zoe and David

Zoe, a woman with ADHD, and David, a neurotypical man, set a weekly "win circle" ritual. Over a special meal of their favorite dishes, each shares one thing they did well that week, from remembering an appointment to supporting each other during stress. Over time, this practice builds confidence and helps them feel like a team, not just individuals managing differences.

### Research Insights

Resilience is the ability to adapt and bounce back from setbacks. Couples who practice gratitude, recognize progress, and focus on their collective strengths are more likely to feel satisfied and stay connected, even during difficult times (Walsh, 2016). For neurodivergent/neurotypical couples, resilience is often built by overcoming misunderstandings, adapting routines, and learning new tools together.

Research shows that celebrating small wins, like a conversation that went better, a new routine that stuck, or a moment of kindness, releases positive emotions and reinforces helpful habits (Amabile & Kramer, 2011). Focusing on growth, rather than perfection, nurtures hope and motivation for both partners.

**Table: Strengths and Resilience-Building Practices** 

Couple Strength	How It Shows Up	Ways to Celebrate &
		Reinforce
Adaptability	Trying new routines, being	Share stories of successful
	flexible	adaptation
Communication Growth	Asking for clarification,	Acknowledge effort, not
	using scripts	just results
Teamwork	Dividing chores, supporting	Say thank you, express
	each other	appreciation
Emotional Resilience	Recovering from	Reflect on challenges
	arguments, self-care	you've overcome
Creativity	Finding unique solutions	Celebrate "out-of-the-box"
		thinking

## Strategies/Tools

- 1. Make a habit of regularly naming and celebrating small wins as a couple.
- 2. Create a "strengths list" of what you do well together—communication, humor, problem-solving, etc.
- 3. Reflect on challenges you've overcome and how you supported each other.
- 4. Practice gratitude for effort and progress, not just outcomes.
- 5. Use rituals or traditions (like a "Friday win" or high-five) to reinforce your team identity.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. List three things you are proud of in your relationship journey so far.
- 2. Identify one area where you and your partner have grown stronger together.
- 3. Reflect on how you can celebrate your own and your partner's progress.

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Together, make a list of at least five strengths you have as a couple.
- 2. Each partner shares one recent "win"—big or small.
- 3. Decide on a new ritual or simple tradition for celebrating progress together.

### Mindfulness Log

- 1. How do I usually respond to success—do I notice and celebrate, or move on quickly?
- 2. What strengths have helped us get through tough times?
- 3. How does it feel to have my efforts recognized by my partner?

#### **Worksheet: Our Resilience Toolkit**

1 Our ton three strengths as a couple:

٠.	
2.	Our favorite way to celebrate progress:
3.	A challenge we overcame together:
-	

4. A new ritual or tradition we want to try:

\_\_\_\_\_

### **FAQs**

1. Q: What if celebrating wins feels awkward or forced?

A: It's normal at first. Start small and focus on genuine gratitude—over time, it will feel more natural.

2. Q: What if we can't think of any "big" successes?

A: Small wins matter most. Celebrate everyday efforts, like listening better or trying a new routine.

3. Q: How do we stay motivated when progress is slow?

A: Remind yourselves that growth is rarely linear. Acknowledge setbacks, but focus on how far you've come.

4. Q: What if one partner struggles to see their strengths?

A: Encourage each other. Sometimes it helps to hear your partner name your strengths out loud.

5. Q: Can celebrating wins help repair past hurts?

A: Yes. Focusing on progress builds hope and trust, which can help you heal and move forward together.

### **Troubleshooting**

1. Q: What if we forget to celebrate or get stuck in negativity?

A: Set a reminder, create a visible "win list," or link celebrations to an existing routine.

2. Q: What if we disagree about what counts as a "win"?

A: Respect both perspectives. If it matters to one partner, it counts. Celebrate effort and growth in both big and small ways.

### 3. Q: What if setbacks feel discouraging?

A: Talk openly about your feelings, then intentionally notice one thing that has improved or that you handled better this time.

## 4. Q: What if we feel different from other couples?

A: Embrace your unique journey—comparison is not your measure. Celebrate what's right for you.

### **Chapter Highlights**

- Resilience grows through celebration of effort, progress, and strengths—not perfection.
- Small wins and daily gratitude reinforce positive patterns and connection.
- Rituals and traditions help couples remember they are a team.
- Embracing your unique journey builds hope and long-term satisfaction.

### **Practice Scripts**

#### If you're either partner, try:

- a. "I'm really proud of how we worked through that challenge together."
- b. "Let's celebrate the fact that we tried something new, even if it wasn't perfect."
- c. "I appreciate the effort you put in. Thank you for being my teammate."

#### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "I noticed you handled that stressful situation so well—I'm really proud of you."
- b. "Let's celebrate the things we're both doing right, even if they seem small."

## If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "It means a lot when you notice my efforts. Thank you for celebrating with me."
- b. "I'm proud of myself for sticking to my new routine. Thanks for your support."

## **Closing Thoughts**

Your relationship's greatest strength is not in being perfect, but in growing, adapting, and celebrating together. By honoring every step forward, you build a resilient partnership that can weather any storm—and enjoy every sunny day.

-

# Chapter 14: Parenting as a Neurodiverse Couple

"Children learn more from what you are than what you teach." ~ W.E.B. Du Bois

Parenting is both a joy and a challenge; one that is full of unpredictability, emotion, and growth. For neurodivergent/neurotypical couples, parenting can bring unique strengths and also new sources of stress. Understanding how your differences affect your parenting styles, routines, and reactions helps you build a supportive environment for your children and yourselves.

### Case Study 1: Marissa and Theo

Marissa, who is neurotypical, loved planning family outings and keeping a packed calendar of activities. Theo, who is autistic, felt overwhelmed by last-minute changes and the noise of children's events. When their child was diagnosed with ADHD, the couple realized the importance of blending their strengths. Marissa managed logistics, while Theo created quiet routines and sensory-friendly spaces at home. They agreed on clear routines and signals for "downtime," and learned to support each other when things got chaotic. Together, they modeled acceptance and flexibility for their child.

## Case Study 2: Andrea and Jun

Andrea, a neurotypical Black woman, and Jun, a Chinese-American man with dyslexia and ADHD, co-parent two young children. Andrea handles school communication and medical appointments, while Jun shines at imaginative play and managing meltdowns. They openly discuss their own neurodivergence and teach their kids about different brains and strengths, fostering acceptance and resilience.

### **Research Insights**

Children thrive in environments where their needs are recognized and respected. Neurodiverse parents bring valuable perspectives: creativity, problem-solving, empathy for difference, and resilience (Pohl et al., 2020). However, executive function challenges, sensory overload, or social fatigue can make daily parenting tasks harder.

Research suggests that clear routines, predictable schedules, and open communication about each parent's strengths and limits help families run more smoothly (Groom et al., 2016). Sharing responsibilities based on strengths, seeking outside support when needed, and modeling self-care all contribute to a healthier family dynamic. It's important to remember that no parent is perfect—showing your child how to ask for help and recover from mistakes is one of the best lessons you can give.

**Table: Parenting Strengths and Supports** 

Area	Strengths	Strategies
Routines	ND: Consistency, structure	Visual schedules, routine charts
	NT: Flexibility, adapting to change	
Emotional Support	ND: Deep empathy, unique perspective	Calm-down spaces, emotion check-ins
	NT: Verbal reassurance, validation	
Problem-Solving	ND: Creativity, out-of-the- box ideas	Family meetings, brainstorm sessions
	NT: Organization, planning	
Sensory Needs	ND: Sensory awareness	Sensory kits, quiet zones
	NT: Advocacy, resource- seeking	

### **Parenting Strategies**

- 1. Assign parenting tasks based on strengths and energy, not tradition.
- 2. Use visual schedules and routines for predictability.
- 3. Discuss and plan for sensory-friendly spaces or breaks for both parents and children.
- 4. Practice "tag-teaming": One parent can step in when the other is overwhelmed.
- 5. Be open about your own neurodiversity with your children, adjusted to their age/understanding.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. List parenting tasks that are easy for you, and those that are challenging.
- 2. Note any sensory or emotional triggers that come up during family time.
- 3. Reflect on what support you need most as a parent.

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Share with your partner one parenting strength you see in them.
- 2. Make a weekly plan that balances chores, routines, and downtime for each parent.
- 3. Discuss how you'll model acceptance of neurodiversity for your children.

#### Mindfulness Log

- 1. When do I feel most connected to my child/children?
- 2. How do I react to parenting stress, and what helps me recover?
- 3. What strengths do I want my children to learn from me?

٧	Norksheet: Our Family Care Plan	
1.	. Our top three family strengths:	
2.	. Parenting tasks I enjoy:	
3.	. Parenting tasks that are hard for me:	
4.	. Ways we support each other as parents:	
5.	. One thing we'll try this week to ease stress:	
F	FAQs	
	. Q: What if our parenting styles clash? A: Focus on your shared goals. Compromise where possible odo things differently sometimes.	e, and agree that it's oka
	. Q: How do we help our children understand our differences' A: Use honest, age-appropriate language. Model acceptance veryone's unique brain and needs.	

A: Check in often, redistribute tasks, and ask for outside help if needed.

3. Q: What if one parent feels left out or overwhelmed?

4. Q: Can our children "catch" our differences?

A: Neurodivergence isn't contagious, but children may inherit traits. Emphasize strengths and support for all.

5. Q: What if we need more support as parents?

A: Seek out neurodiversity-affirming parenting groups, therapy, or family coaching.

## **Troubleshooting**

What if we have different standards for routines or discipline?
 Discuss your values outside of stressful moments. Find middle ground and present a united front to your children.

2. What if one parent gets overloaded and "checks out"?

Have a plan for breaks and tag-teaming. Reassure your partner and return to parenting together when ready.

3. What if extended family criticizes our parenting?

Advocate for your family's needs and set boundaries. Share resources or ask for understanding when possible.

4. What if our child is also neurodivergent?

Celebrate their uniqueness, seek appropriate resources, and use your own experiences to empathize.

### **Chapter Highlights**

- Parenting as a neurodiverse couple brings both challenges and unique gifts.
- Dividing tasks by strengths and needs, not tradition, reduces stress.
- Routines, sensory supports, and mutual care help the whole family thrive.
- Modeling acceptance and flexibility teaches children resilience and self-love.

### **Practice Scripts**

## If you're either partner, try:

- a. "I need a break. Can you take over with the kids for a bit?"
- b. "Let's make a family plan that works for all our brains."
- c. "I'm proud of how we supported each other through that tough day."

### If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Let's divide parenting tasks based on what feels easiest for each of us."
- b. "How can I support you during tough parenting moments?"

### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I'm great at creative play, but I struggle with paperwork. Can we swap tasks?"
- b. "I need a break—can you take over with the kids for a bit?"

### **Closing Thoughts**

Parenting isn't about doing things perfectly, but about loving and supporting your children—and each other—the best you can. By honoring your own and your partner's differences, you give your family the gift of acceptance, flexibility, and hope.

# Chapter 15: Long-Term Plans & Life Transitions

"The only thing constant in life is change." ~ Heraclitus

Major life changes, like moving, changing jobs, getting married, or welcoming a child, can be exciting and overwhelming for any couple. For neurodivergent/neurotypical partners, transitions may bring extra challenges with routines, sensory needs, and emotional adjustment. Planning ahead, communicating openly, and supporting each other through uncertainty are essential for navigating these times together.

### Case Study 1: Andrea and Luis

When Andrea got a new job offer in another city, she felt thrilled about the adventure. Luis, who has ADHD, felt anxious about leaving their familiar routines and worried about organizing the move. They made a transition plan: Andrea handled logistics and paperwork, while Luis focused on researching new routines and exploring the area online. They allowed extra downtime during the move, celebrated small steps along the way, and checked in about their feelings daily. By dividing tasks and honoring each other's stress points, they turned a major transition into a shared achievement.

### Case Study 2: Tori and Malik

Tori, a 45-year-old autistic woman, and Malik, a neurotypical man in his fifties, face a major transition when Tori's job relocates them cross-country. Tori needs time to adjust to new routines and struggles with the chaos of moving. Malik manages logistics and communicates with new neighbors, while Tori researches sensory-friendly spots in their new city. They celebrate small milestones, like unpacking a room or finding a local coffee shop, making the transition a shared adventure.

## **Research Insights**

Transitions can be especially hard for neurodivergent people, who may need more time to adjust to change, or who experience stress acutely during disruptions in routine (Holliday Willey, 2012). Major events like marriage, moving, job changes, or becoming parents can trigger both excitement and anxiety for both partners.

Research shows that couples who plan ahead, break big changes into smaller steps, and communicate openly about their fears and hopes experience less stress and greater satisfaction (Sayers et al., 2017). It's also important to allow for extra rest, flexibility, and mutual reassurance during times of change.

**Table: Major Life Transitions and Support Strategies** 

Transition	Potential Challenge	Support Strategy
Moving	Disrupted routines,	Make checklists, create
	sensory overload	comfort kits
New job/school	Uncertainty, social anxiety	Practice new routines,
		role-play scenarios
Marriage/commitment	Family expectations, big	Set boundaries, schedule
	emotions	self-care
Having a child	Sleep loss, new routines	Divide tasks, ask for
		outside help

### Strategies/Tools

- 1. Break big transitions into manageable steps. Use checklists or visual plans.
- 2. Assign tasks according to each partner's strengths and stress tolerance.
- 3. Build in extra downtime, self-care, and sensory supports during transitions.
- 4. Communicate openly about worries, hopes, and what helps each partner adjust.
- 5. Celebrate milestones along the way, even the small ones

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. Reflect on a past life transition: what was hardest, and what helped you cope?
- 2. List your top worries and hopes about an upcoming or possible future change.
- 3. Consider what support you'd like to ask for next time.

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Choose an upcoming transition or change.
- 2. Make a shared checklist or timeline for preparation.
- 3. Talk about each partner's biggest stressors and favorite ways to celebrate progress.

### Mindfulness Log

- 1. How do I feel about change—excited, anxious, both?
- 2. What routines or comforts help me adjust during transitions?
- 3. How do I show support for my partner when life gets unpredictable?

Worksheet: Our Transition Plan
1. The change we're facing:
2. My biggest worry about this change:
3. My partner's biggest worry:
4. Tasks each of us will handle:
5. Ways we will support each other (breaks, check-ins, celebrations):
FAQs
1. Q: Why are transitions so hard for us?
A: Change disrupts routines and can cause sensory or emotional overload. This is common and not a failure—planning and support help.
2. Q: What if one partner wants change and the other resists?
A: Take time to listen. Compromise where possible, and go at a pace that works for both.
3. Q: How do we manage family pressures during big life events?
A: Set boundaries together, and decide what information and involvement feels right

for you both.

4. Q: What if unexpected changes throw off our plans?

A: Flexibility is key. Focus on what you can control, and return to your routines as soon as possible.

5. Q: How can we celebrate milestones during stressful times?

A: Find small ways—notes, favorite foods, quiet evenings—to acknowledge progress and support each other.

## **Troubleshooting**

1. What if changes trigger conflict or shutdowns?

Pause, use your conflict tools, and return to the issue when calm. Break tasks into smaller pieces if needed.

2. What if we lose track of self-care?

Schedule it into your plan. Remind each other gently and make it a shared priority.

3. What if one partner feels left out of decisions?

Check in regularly. Ask for input and share information openly, even if roles are divided.

4. What if transitions cause old anxieties to resurface?

Acknowledge them, breathe, and seek extra support if needed. You are not alone.

### **Chapter Highlights**

- Major transitions bring both excitement and stress. Planning and open communication help couples adapt.
- Divide tasks and support according to strengths and needs.
- Build in rest, flexibility, and celebration during times of change.
- Resilience grows each time you weather life's storms together.

### **Practice Scripts**

### If you're either partner, try:

- a. "I think we both need some downtime after all these new things. How about having a quiet night?"
- b. "I'm proud of us for getting through this transition as a team."

## If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Let's break this transition into small steps so it feels less overwhelming."
- b. "If you need extra downtime during the move, just let me know."

#### If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "This change feels big. Can we make a plan together, step by step?"
- b. "Big changes are hard for me, but I appreciate you handling some of the details."
- c. "I'd like to set up familiar routines as soon as we settle in. Can we plan for that?"

### **Closing Thoughts**

Life's biggest changes are easier to handle when you move through them together. By planning ahead, supporting each other's needs, and celebrating every milestone, you build a partnership ready for whatever the future brings.

# Chapter 16: Seeking Outside Help

"Asking for help isn't giving up. It's refusing to give up." ~ Charlie Mackesy

There are times when every relationship needs support from outside. For neurodivergent/neurotypical couples, finding a professional who understands neurodiversity can be a powerful step toward a healthier, more connected partnership. This chapter will help you recognize when to seek help, how to find a neurodiversity-affirming therapist or counselor, and how to navigate resources that support both partners.

### Story: Olivia and Theo

Olivia and Theo tried everything they could think of to communicate better: books, online forums, even advice from friends, but they kept running into the same misunderstandings. Theo, who is ADHD, felt that Olivia didn't understand his need for stimulation and structure, while Olivia, who is neurotypical, felt exhausted by constant reminders and unfinished tasks. After months of frustration, they decided to get professional help. Their first therapist didn't know much about neurodivergence and offered advice that made things worse. But their second counselor specialized in neurodiverse couples, validated both partners' experiences, and offered practical strategies tailored to their needs. With this support, Olivia and Theo found new ways to connect and thrive.

#### Case Study 2: Saskia and Laila

Saskia, who is neurotypical and Laila, who has ADHD and PTSD, are a couple. They reach a point where communication breaks down. After a few unhelpful attempts with general therapists, they find a neurodiversity-affirming couples-counselor who is

LGBTQ+ aware. With professional guidance, they learn new communication tools and feel validated for the first time.

### **Research Insights**

Therapy and counseling can be transformative for couples, but only when the professional understands and respects neurodiversity (Crane et al., 2021). Neurodiversity-affirming therapists recognize that differences in thinking, feeling, and behaving are natural, and they avoid trying to normalize or fix neurodivergent partners. Instead, they focus on building communication skills, mutual understanding, and practical strategies that work for both people.

Studies show that neurodiverse couples benefit most from counselors who are familiar with autism, ADHD, sensory processing, and executive function differences (Aston, 2014). It's also important for therapists to use accessible language, respect boundaries, and support both partners equally. If a therapist does not feel like a good fit, it is okay to try someone else.

Table: Finding and Working with a Neurodiversity-Affirming Therapist

Step	What to Look for	Success Tips
Research	Specialization in neurodiversity	Check bios, websites, testimonials
Initial	Affirming, respectful communication	Ask about experience with ND/NT couples
First Sessions	Collaborative, strength- based approach	Share your goals and needs clearly
Ongoing Work	Practical tools, tailored support	Give feedback, discuss what is helping
If Not a Fit	Open to feedback, flexible	Find another provider if needed

## **Outside Support Strategies**

- 1. Recognize when you're stuck or need outside perspective. There's no shame in reaching out.
- 2. Look for professionals who use terms like "neurodiversity-affirming," "autism/ADHD-informed," or "inclusive."
- 3. Prepare questions to ask about their approach, experience, and comfort with neurodiverse issues.
- 4. List shared goals for therapy like communication, routines, and intimacy.
- 5. Use sessions to practice new tools, and check in regularly about what's working.

#### Solo Exercise

- 1. Reflect on what you hope to gain from seeking outside help (examples: feeling heard, improving routines, understanding each other).
- 2. List any concerns or fears you have about therapy or counseling.
- 3. Note what qualities are most important to you in a therapist (e.g., affirming, practical, experienced with neurodiversity).

### **Pair Activity**

- 1. Together, discuss past experiences with support—what was helpful, what wasn't.
- 2. Make a list of shared goals for therapy or counseling.
- 3. Research two or three potential therapists or resources and review them together.

## **Mindfulness Log**

- 1. How do I feel about asking for help outside our relationship?
- 2. What would make me feel safe and respected in a counseling session?
- 3. How will I know if a therapist or resource is the right fit for us?

### **Worksheet: Our Support Plan**

1.	Signs we might need outside help (e.g., repeated conflict, feeling stuck):
2.	Our shared goals for seeking support:
3.	Qualities we want in a therapist/counselor:

4. Ke	esources	or directo	ries to exp	lore:	

5. Our plan for giving feedback or changing therapists if needed:

### **FAQs**

1. Q: How do we know it's time to seek outside help?

A: If you're stuck, repeating the same arguments, or feeling disconnected despite your efforts, it's a good time to reach out.

2. Q: What if one partner is hesitant about therapy?

A: Explore concerns together, start with a consultation, and emphasize that therapy is for both partners' benefit.

3. Q: How can we find a neurodiversity-affirming professional?

A: Use online directories, local ND organizations, or ask for recommendations. Don't hesitate to ask potential therapists about their experience.

4. Q: What if therapy doesn't seem to help?

A: Sometimes it takes time to find the right approach or therapist. Give honest feedback, try another provider if needed, and keep your goals in focus.

5. Q: Are there resources beyond therapy?

A: Yes! Support groups, books, online communities, and advocacy organizations can all offer insight and encouragement.

## **Troubleshooting**

- What if therapy brings up old hurts or feels overwhelming?
   Go at your own pace. Take breaks as needed, and use grounding tools. Remind yourselves you're working toward healing, not reliving pain.
- 2. What if the therapist doesn't "get" neurodiversity?

  You deserve affirming care. Advocate for your needs, or seek another provider who truly understands your experience.
- 3. What if one partner feels blamed or misunderstood in sessions?
  Address this with your therapist. A good counselor will help both partners feel heard and respected.
- 4. What if we can't afford therapy?
  Look for sliding-scale clinics, online groups, or free community resources. Many organizations offer affordable or low-cost options.

# **Chapter Highlights**

- Seeking outside help is a sign of strength and self-care, not failure.
- Neurodiversity-affirming therapists focus on understanding, acceptance, and practical strategies.
- Finding the right support may take time—advocate for your needs and keep looking if necessary.
- Support is available from many sources, including therapy, support groups, and online communities.

# **Practice Scripts**

# If you're either partner, try:

- a. "We've tried working through this on our own, and I think getting outside help could really support us."
- b. "Can you tell us about your experience working with neurodiverse couples?"
- c. "Let's check in after a few sessions and make sure this is a good fit for both of us."

## If you're the neurotypical partner, try:

- a. "Would you feel comfortable if we looked for a therapist together—someone experienced with both ADHD and trauma?"
- b. "I want us to have support that really understands both our needs."

# If you're the neurodivergent partner, try:

- a. "I'd like our therapist to be familiar with neurodiversity and LGBTQ+ issues. Can we ask about that?"
- b. "I'm nervous about counseling, but I'm willing to try if it helps us."

# **Closing Thoughts**

Asking for help is a courageous step that honors your relationship and your well-being. With the right support, you can break old patterns, discover new strategies, and build a partnership that celebrates both your differences and your strengths.

# Chapter 17: Your Journey Together

"Love recognizes no barriers. It jumps hurdles, leaps fences, penetrates walls to arrive at its destination full of hope." ~ Maya Angelou

As you reach the end of this guide, take a moment to recognize how far you and your partner have come. Choosing to learn, grow, and walk this path together is an act of courage and dedication; not only to your relationship, but to yourselves as individuals. Every page you've read, every conversation you've had, and every small step you've taken is a testament to your resilience and care.

### You Are Not Alone

Whether you are neurodivergent, neurotypical, or both, you are part of a growing community that values difference, honors unique strengths, and believes that love can flourish in all its forms. The challenges you face are real, but so are the resources, allies, and moments of joy available to you.

### **Progress, Not Perfection**

Remember, relationships are works in progress. There will be setbacks, misunderstandings, and times when nothing seems to work. That's okay. What matters most is your willingness to return to each other, to try again, to laugh, to apologize, and to celebrate every little victory along the way.

## **Keep Growing**

As you move forward, keep building your toolkit, keep learning about yourselves, reaching out for support, and creating new rituals of connection and care. Update your routines, revisit your goals, and don't be afraid to ask for help when you need it. Your partnership will keep evolving, and so will you.

### **Share Your Story**

Your experiences matter. By sharing your journey, whether with friends, family, online communities, or future generations, you help make the world more welcoming, understanding, and affirming for all kinds of minds and hearts.

### **A Final Word**

Thank you for trusting this book to accompany you. May you find comfort in your rituals, strength in your differences, and joy in your togetherness. Wherever life takes you next, you have already shown what it means to love bravely, creatively, and well.

You are enough. Your relationship is enough. And your story is just beginning.



# Resources

Finding the right support, information, and community can make a world of difference for neurodivergent/neurotypical couples. Below is a curated list of books, organizations, online communities, and tools to help you continue your journey together.

### **Books**

- You, Me & AuDHD: Relationship Tools for Adults with Autism and ADHD by Lili
   Castille
- You, Me & AuDHD: Real-World Self Care and Survival Skills by Lili Castille
- You, Me & AuDHD: Toolkit for Related Conditions by Lili Castille
- Neurodiversity in the Workplace by Susanne M. Bruyère
- The Neurodiverse Relationship by Joanna Stevenson
- NeuroTribes by Steve Silberman
- The Partner's Guide to Asperger Syndrome by Susan Moreno, Marci Wheeler, and Kealah Parkinson

- Uniquely Human by Barry M. Prizant
- Different, Not Less by Temple Grandin
- The Five Love Languages by Gary Chapman

### **Websites and Online Communities**

- Autistic Self Advocacy Network (ASAN)(https://autisticadvocacy.org/)
- ADHD Foundation(https://www.adhdfoundation.org.uk/)
- Understood.org(https://www.understood.org/)
- National Autistic Society (UK)(https://www.autism.org.uk/)
- ADDA (Attention Deficit Disorder Association)(https://add.org/)
- Wrong Planet(https://wrongplanet.net/) Online community for autistic people and their families
- Reddit: r/neurodiversity(https://www.reddit.com/r/neurodiversity/)
- Reddit: r/aspergers(https://www.reddit.com/r/aspergers/)

### **Finding Neurodiversity-Affirming Professionals**

 Therapist Neurodiversity Collective (https://therapistndc.org/) – Directory of neurodiversity-affirming therapists

- Psychology Today Therapist Finder (https://www.psychologytoday.com/)
   (search for ADHD, autism, or neurodiversity-affirming in filters or keywords)
- Local autism, ADHD, or neurodiversity organizations often maintain lists of recommended counselors, support groups, and assessors

## **Tools and Apps**

- Visual schedule apps: Tiimo(https://www.tiimoapp.com/),
   Choiceworks(https://www.beevisual.com/)
- Communication tools: Avaz AAC(https://www.avazapp.com/),
   Proloquo2Go(https://www.assistiveware.com/products/proloquo2go)
- Time management: Time Timer(https://www.timetimer.com/), Remember The Milk(https://www.rememberthemilk.com/)
- Sensory supports: Calm(https://www.calm.com/), Insight Timer
   (https://insighttimer.com/), weighted blankets, noise-cancelling headphones

### **Support Groups and Peer Networks**

- GRASP (https://grasp.org/) Global and Regional Asperger Syndrome Partnership
- CHADD (https://chadd.org/) Children and Adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
- Neuroclastic (https://neuroclastic.com/) Autistic-led stories and resources

- Facebook groups: "Neurodiverse Couples Support," "Partners of Neurodivergent Adults," "ADHD and Relationships Support Group"
- Local meetup and support groups. Ask your local ND organization or search Meetup.com

### **Individual and Family Resources**

- Autistic Self Advocacy Network (ASAN) (https://autisticadvocacy.org/)
- Autism Society of America (https://autismsociety.org/)
- Organization for Autism Research (OAR) (https://researchautism.org/)
- ADDitude Magazine (https://www.additudemag.com/) (ADHD family and parenting)
- Thinking Person's Guide to Autism (https://www.thinkingautismguide.com

### **Crisis and Emergency Resources**

- National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (US) (https://988lifeline.org/): Call or text
   988
- Samaritans (UK) (https://www.samaritans.org/): 116 123
- Lifeline (Australia (https://www.lifeline.org.au/): 13 11 14
- Your local emergency services

# **Further Reading and Research**

- Journal of Autism and Developmental
   Disorders(https://www.springer.com/journal/10803)
- Autism in Adulthood (https://home.liebertpub.com/publications/autism-in-adulthood/643)
- ADHD & Families Research Summaries
   (https://www.additudemag.com/category/adhd-research/)

### **Tips for Navigating Resources**

- 1. Always check that professionals and resources are neurodiversity-affirming—look for language about acceptance, understanding, and support, not "fixing."
- 2. Don't be afraid to try several resources or groups before finding what fits your needs.
- 3. If you're feeling overwhelmed, start small: pick one book, group, or tool to explore this month.
- 4. Advocate for yourself and your partner. Ask questions and seek support until you feel respected and understood.

## **Practice Scripts for Reaching Out**

- 1. "I'm looking for a therapist who is familiar with neurodiverse couples. Can you tell me about your experience and approach?"
- 2. "We're hoping to find a support group that is neurodiversity-affirming and nonjudgmental."

3. "Do you have resources specifically for couples navigating neurodivergent/neurotypical relationships?

### Remember:

The journey is ongoing and there is no single "right" way to find support. Use these resources as launching points to build the network, skills, and community that help your unique relationship thrive.

# References

- Amabile, T. M., & Kramer, S. J. (2011). The Progress Principle: Using Small Wins to Ignite Joy, Engagement, and Creativity at Work. Harvard Business Review Press.
- Aston, M. (2009). Aspergers in Love: Couple Relationships and Family Affairs. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Aston, M. (2009). The other half of Asperger Syndrome: A guide to living in an intimate relationship with a partner who is on the autism spectrum (2nd ed.). Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Aston, M. (2014). The Other Half of Asperger Syndrome (Autism Spectrum Disorder): A Guide to Living in an Intimate Relationship with a Partner who is on the Autism Spectrum. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Barkley, R. A. (2011). Executive Functions: What They Are, How They Work, and Why They Evolved. Guilford Press.
- Botha, M., & Frost, D. M. (2020). Extending the minority stress model to understand mental health problems experienced by the autistic population. *Society and Mental Health*, *10*(1), 20–34. https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869318804297
- Byers, E. S., Nichols, S., & Voyer, S. D. (2013). Challenging Stereotypes: Sexual Functioning of Single Adults with High-Functioning Autism Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 43(11), 2617–2627.
- Cassidy, S., Bradley, L., Robinson, J., Allison, C., McHugh, M., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2014). Suicidal ideation and suicide plans or attempts in adults with Asperger's syndrome attending a specialist diagnostic clinic: a clinical cohort study. The Lancet Psychiatry, 1(2), 142-147.

- Chapman, G. (2015). The 5 Love Languages: The Secret to Love that Lasts. Northfield Publishing.
- Crane, L., Adams, F., Harper, G., Welch, J., & Pellicano, E. (2021). 'Something needs to change': Mental health experiences of autistic adults in England. Autism, 25(5), 1366–1378.
- Crompton, C. J., Hallett, S., Ropar, D., Flynn, E., & Fletcher-Watson, S. (2020). "I never realised everybody felt as happy as I do when I am around autistic people": A thematic analysis of autistic adults' relationships with autistic and neurotypical friends and family. Autism, 24(6), 1438-1448.
- Gottman, J. M. (2019). The Science of Couples and Family Therapy: Behind the Scenes at the "Love Lab". W.W. Norton & Company.
- Greenberg, L. S. (2016). Emotion-Focused Therapy: Coaching Clients to Work Through Their Feelings. American Psychological Association.
- Groom, M. J., et al. (2016). The Impact of Parenting Stress on Parents of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 46(6), 1902–1910.
- Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Foley, K. R., Richdale, A., & Trollor, J. (2018). Risk and protective factors underlying depression and suicidal ideation in autism spectrum disorder. Depression and Anxiety, 35(7), 648-657.
- Hendrickx, S. (2008). Asperger Syndrome and Employment: What People with Asperger Syndrome Really, Really Want. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Hendrickx, S. (2021). Neurodiverse Relationships: Autistic and Neurotypical Partners Share Their Experiences. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

- Hendrickx, S. (2021). Women and Girls with Autism Spectrum Disorder: Understanding

  Life Experiences from Early Childhood to Old Age (2nd ed.). Jessica Kingsley

  Publishers.
- Hirvikoski, T., et al. (2015). Stress in adults with autism spectrum disorder. Autism, 19(6), 666–677.
- Hirvikoski, T., Mittendorfer-Rutz, E., Boman, M., Larsson, H., Lichtenstein, P., & Bölte, S. (2016). Premature mortality in autism spectrum disorder. British Journal of Psychiatry, 208(3), 232-238.
- Holliday Willey, L. (2012). Safety skills for Asperger women: How to save a perfectly good female life. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Hollway, J. A., & Aman, M. G. (2011). Sleep correlates of pervasive developmental disorders: A review of the literature. Research in Developmental Disabilities, 32(5), 1399–1421.
- Kinnaird, E., Stewart, C., & Tchanturia, K. (2019). Investigating alexithymia in autism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. European Psychiatry, 55, 80–89.
- Leekam, S. R., Nieto, C., Libby, S. J., Wing, L., & Gould, J. (2007). Describing the sensory abnormalities of children and adults with autism. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 37(5), 894–910.
- Mandy, W., Pellicano, E., St Pourcain, B., Skuse, D., Heron, J., & Jones, G. (2018). The mental health needs of autistic women and girls. Autism, 22(3), 273-287.
- Milton, D. (2012). On the ontological status of autism: the 'double empathy problem'. Disability & Society, 27(6), 883-887.
- Milton, D. (2020). A Mismatch of Salience: Explorations of the Nature of Autism from Theory to Practice. Critical Autism Studies, 1, 1–30.

- Milton, D. (2020). The Double Empathy Problem: A Summary for Non-Academics. *Autonomy, the Critical Journal of Interdisciplinary Autism Studies*, 1(2).
- Milton, D., & Sims, T. (2016). How is a sense of well-being and belonging constructed in the accounts of autistic adults? Disability & Society, 31(4), 520–534.
- Müller, E., Schuler, A., & Yates, G. B. (2008). Social challenges and supports from the perspective of individuals with Asperger syndrome and other autism spectrum disabilities. Autism, 12(2), 173–190.
- Munday, P. (2019). Being Autistic: Nine Adults Share Their Journeys from Diagnosis to Leading Happy Lives. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Murray, D. (2017). Autism and Routine: How to Build Predictability, Routine and Structure for Autistic People. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Phelps, J., Hodgson, A. R., McCammon, S., & Lamson, A. L. (2020). Caring for partners of individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A review of the literature and recommendations for clinical practice. Family Process, 59(2), 735-747.
- Pohl, A. L., Crockford, S. K., Blakemore, M., Allison, C., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2020). A Comparative Study of Autistic and Non-Autistic Parents Who Have Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders, 50(2), 518–529.
- Raymaker, D. M., Teo, A. R., Steckler, N. A., Lentz, B., Scharer, M., Delos Santos, A., ... & Nicolaidis, C. (2020). "Having all of your internal resources exhausted beyond measure and being left with no clean-up crew": Defining autistic burnout. Autism in Adulthood, 2(2), 132–143.
- Roberts, A. L., Koenen, K. C., Lyall, K., Robinson, E. B., & Weisskopf, M. G. (2015).

  Association of maternal exposure to childhood abuse with elevated risk for autism in offspring. JAMA Psychiatry, 72(11), 1095-1103.

- Robertson, C. E., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2017). Sensory perception in autism. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 18(11), 671–684.
- Sander, L., et al. (2021). Co-regulation in Relationships: Foundations, Processes, and Impact. Journal of Family Theory & Review, 13(2), 169–184.
- Sayers, S. L., et al. (2017). Family resilience and adjustment among families of children with autism spectrum disorder. Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders, 34, 57–67.
- Walker, N. (2021). Neuroqueer Heresies: Notes on the Neurodiversity Paradigm, Autistic Empowerment, and Postnormal Possibilities. Autonomous Press.
- Walsh, F. (2016). Strengthening Family Resilience (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Weiss, J. A., & Fardella, M. A. (2018). Victimization and perpetration experiences of adults with autism. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 9, 203.



# Glossary

## **Alexithymia**

Difficulty identifying and describing one's own emotions. Common among neurodivergent people, especially those with autism or ADHD.

## **Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)**

A neurodevelopmental condition characterized by differences in social communication, sensory processing, and patterns of behavior or interests.

#### **Burnout**

A state of mental, physical, and emotional exhaustion caused by ongoing stress, often involving withdrawal, loss of motivation, or difficulty functioning.

### Co-regulation

The process of calming and supporting one another emotionally, often through shared routines, soothing activities, or simply being together.

## **Dyspraxia**

A neurodevelopmental difference affecting motor coordination and planning of movements.

### Dyslexia

A learning difference that affects reading, writing, and spelling, often associated with strengths in visual thinking or problem-solving.

### **Executive Function**

A set of mental skills—including planning, organizing, time management, and self-control—that help individuals complete tasks and manage daily life.

## **Hyposensitivity**

Reduced sensitivity to sensory input (such as sound, touch, or light), which may lead to seeking additional stimulation.

### **Hypersensitivity**

Increased sensitivity to sensory input, which can result in overwhelm or discomfort from sounds, lights, textures, etc.

### Intimacy

Emotional and/or physical closeness between partners; can include affection, trust, vulnerability, and shared experiences.

#### Meltdown

An intense emotional reaction (such as crying or shouting) to overwhelming stress or sensory input, often seen in autistic or highly sensitive individuals.

### **Neurodivergent (ND)**

Describes people whose brains process, learn, or behave differently from what is considered typical. Includes autism, ADHD, dyslexia, dyspraxia, and more.

## **Neurodiversity**

The concept that variation in brain function and behavior is normal and valuable, and that there are many natural ways for brains to be wired.

## **Neurodiversity-affirming**

An approach or person that respects, validates, and supports neurodivergent ways of being, rather than trying to "fix" or change them.

### **Neurotypical (NT)**

Describes people whose brain function and behaviors are considered typical or within the societal norm.

### **Routines**

Predictable patterns or schedules that help organize daily life and can provide comfort, structure, and stability—especially important for many neurodivergent people.

### Self-care

Activities and practices that support mental, emotional, and physical well-being. Can include rest, hobbies, exercise, social time, or solitude.

### **Sensory Processing**

How the brain receives, interprets, and responds to sensory information (sights, sounds, smells, textures, tastes, movement).

### Shutdown

A response to overwhelm in which a person becomes quiet, withdrawn, or unable to communicate or participate.

# Stimming

Repetitive movements or sounds (such as hand-flapping, rocking, or humming) that help self-soothe or manage sensory input, common among autistic people.

# Strengths-based

An approach that focuses on abilities and talents, rather than deficits or challenges.



# **Thank You**

So THANK YOU for getting this book and for making it all the way to the end.

Before you go, I'd like to ask if you would please post a review on the Amazon platform? Posting a review is the best and easiest way to support the work of independent authors like myself.

Your feedback will help me to keep writing the kind of books that will help you get the results you want. It would mean a lot to me to hear from you.

If you have any special requests for future books, let me know through montegobooks@gmail.com

